# The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate Supplementation on Exercise Performance and Vascular Health in Females

# A Dissertation

# In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

by

Austin Hogwood

April 2023

# Acknowledgments

I would like to first thank my advisor Dr. Jason Allen for his guidance, expertise, flexibility, and open mind during my time at the University of Virginia. His compassion and understanding allowed me to flourish as both an independent researcher and as a human. He was not afraid to be himself throughout this process, which I truly appreciated. I'd also like to thank Dr. Arthur Weltman for always offering his extensive knowledge across many topics, and for helping me learn how to develop grants and learn the importance of pursuing scholarship through collaboration. I'd like thank Dr. Katie Love for performing the medical screenings for my final dissertation study, and for offering her expertise and guidance in endocrinology. As a male with male advisors, doing a dissertation on females was a challenge that Katie welcomed with open arms. I am also grateful for the guidance and constant willingness to help from Dr. Damon Swift. All four of my dissertation committee members have been transparent, kind, and infinitely helpful in my Ph.D. journey.

I would also like to thank other faculty who I've worked with over my years at UVA including Dr. Siddhartha Angadi, Dr. David Edwards, and Dr. Sibylle Kranz. Serving as a TA for each of them has given me broad experiences as an educator and will allow me to form my own style moving forward. I'd also like to thank the students who I've had the pleasure of spending nearly every day with here at UVA. Joaquin Ortiz De Zevallos has been my partner throughout much of this journey, and I'll never forget some of our conference trips and long days in the lab together. I'd also like to thank Kara Anderson, Nathan Weeldreyer, Zach Leicht, Emily Grammer, and Faten Hasan for grinding through the sometimes-difficult days of graduate school with me. I have no doubt each of you are going to do great things as professionals.

I would like to thank my family for being along my side every step of the way throughout my career. My father, Beau, always instilled hard work and a level of perseverance that was truly necessary during my Ph.D. journey. My mother, Christina, has always shown me the importance of kindness and compassion throughout whatever life brings. My younger brothers Kyle and Christian, as well as my cousin Logan have also been key drivers in my desire to be successful so that I can be a role model for them. I'd also like to thank my friends who have helped me to not forget who I am throughout this process, as this truly is necessary in graduate school.

Finally, I would like to thank my beautiful fiancé Dr. Rita Jamil for leaving Richmond with me after only a few months together and supporting me daily throughout my Ph.D. Through life's ups and downs, she has always been there for me, and it's helped me immensely. Rita's discipline in her professional and personal life is an inspiration to me constantly, but we've still managed to keep our silly personalities throughout all of this. I'm looking forward to spending years to come with Rita and our adorable dog Theo.

I couldn't have done any of this without all these people supporting me both personally and professionally. For that, I am forever grateful. I hope this journey has made everyone proud. I love you all.

## Abstract

Nitric oxide (NO) is a lipid-soluble molecule found in various organ systems that assists in regulating blood pressure, vascular function, and exercise performance. Inorganic nitrate  $(NO_3^{-1})$ supplementation has been touted as both an exercise ergogenic as well as a clinical therapeutic, as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> reduces to NO via the  $NO_3$ - $NO_2$ -NO pathway. While  $NO_3$  has shown to improve exercise economy, time to exhaustion, and muscular power, these studies have predominately only studied healthy young males. Females are largely understudied, perhaps because of the intricacies of the hormonal fluctuations that occur throughout the menstrual cycle. Of these hormones, estrogen fluctuates cyclically in young healthy females ranging from lower levels during the early follicular (EF) phase of the menstrual cycle and peaking typically during the late follicular (LF) phase. This is important as estrogen is known to directly improve NO bioavailability, yet despite this, the interactions of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation with estrogen fluctuations in young healthy females has not been understudied. Further, as females undergo menopause, estrogen is largely reduced, as is the NO bioavailability afforded by estrogen. This results in a loss of vascular protection in post-menopausal (PM) females and an exacerbated cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk. While exercise training is known to improve vascular function, this does not occur in PM females, potentially due to a loss of bioavailable NO that comes with the loss of estrogen. Improving bioavailable NO either by increasing exercise intensity or by supplementing with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation may provide interventional options for PM females to prevent the elevated CVD risk.

Thus, the purpose of manuscript 1 of this dissertation was to determine the effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation on aerobic exercise economy and endurance capacity across follicular phases of the menstrual cycle. The results of this placebo-controlled randomized control trial (RCT) revealed that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (BRJ) elevated plasma nitrite and nitrate, but plasma nitrate was higher in the LF phase of the menstrual cycle (MC). Exercise economy was unaltered by BRJ or the MC, however exercise endurance was significantly worsened by 40 seconds (~9%) after BRJ supplementation (p = 0.04) but was not different across the MC with no interaction effects.

The purpose of manuscript 2 of this dissertation was to determine the effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>

supplementation on isokinetic peak muscular power, maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) force, muscular endurance, and recovery from fatigue across the follicular phases of the menstrual cycle. Isokinetic peak power was worsened by NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (p = 0.02), with maximal knee extensor power (Pmax) to being significantly worsened in the LF+BRJ condition compared to the EF+PL condition (p = 0.04). Maximal knee extensor velocity (Vmax) was also worsened by NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (p = 0.03). Muscular endurance, MVIC, and fatigue recovery was unaltered by BRJ or the MC (all p > 0.05).

Finally, manuscript 3 of this dissertation was to determine the effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation and different intensities of exercise on acute changes to vascular health in PM females. BRJ + high intensity exercise (HIE) improved Peak  $\Delta$  Flow-Mediated Dilation (FMD) compared to all control (CON) conditions (p < 0.05), while BRJ + moderate intensity exercise (MIE) improved Peak  $\Delta$  FMD compared only to BRJ+CON. Neither PL+HIE nor PL+MIE improved Peak  $\Delta$  FMD compared to PL+CON (p >0.05). Plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> was positively correlated with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD, while body fat percentage with inversely correlated. Exercise prevented the increase in MAP and PWV over time independent of treatment.

These dissertation data taken together suggest a potential hormetic relationship with estrogen and NO in which NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation may harm exercise performance in young healthy females who already have sufficient NO, whereby NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation may be further elevating NO to an extent where it is no longer beneficial. Contrarily, in PM females where endogenous NO is lower due to the loss of estrogen, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation and higher intensity of exercise may bring NO bioavailability back into a healthy range, whereby NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation is beneficial. These data have revealed a fascinating relationship between estrogen and its relationship on both endogenous and exogenous NO that had never been explored previously. Understanding these relationships allows for a precision approach such that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation can be implemented in the context of underlying low endogenous NO bioavailability. Hopefully, these data will provoke further study in this area and will invoke curiosity towards studying these relationships in a nuanced manner.

4

# **Table of Contents**

Background8
Introduction
Inorganic Nitrate
Estrogen and NO10
Estrogen and the Menstrual Cycle11
Estrogen and Menopause12
NO3 <sup>-</sup> and Exercise in Pre-Menopausal Females14
NO3 <sup>-</sup> and Exercise in Post-Menopausal Females15
Conclusion16
References:17
Manuscript 1:
The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate Supplementation on Exercise Economy and Endurance Capacity Across the Menstrual Cycle28
1. Introduction:
2. Methods:
3. Results:
4. Discussion:
5. Conclusions:
6. References:
Figure 1: Study Schematic43
Table 1: Participant Characteristics
Figure 2: N-oxides across the menstrual cycle phases and following supplementation45
Table 2: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate or Placebo and Menstrual Cycle Phase on       Cardiovascular Measures       46
Figure 3: Effects of NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> and the menstrual cycle on exercise economy during moderate intensity exercise
Table 3: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate or Placebo and Menstrual Cycle Phase During       Submaximal Exercise
Figure 4: Effects of NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> and the menstrual cycle on change in time to exhaustion (TTE) during the severe-intensity exercise
Table 4: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate or Placebo and Menstrual Cycle Phase During Severe       Intensity Exercise
Graphical Abstract51
Manuscript 2:

The . the N	Effects of Inorganic Nitrate Supplementation on Muscular Power and Endurance AcrossIenstrual Cycle52
1.	Introduction54
2.	Methods55
3.	Results
4.	Discussion
5.	Conclusion62
6.	References63
Ta	ble 1: Participant Characteristics72
Ta	ble 2: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on N-Oxides73
Fig tes fat	gure 1: Experimental protocol schematic. The experimental visit was divided into two major sting blocks; (A) Maximal isokinetic knee extension and (B) pre- and post-MVIC with the tigue protocol in between
Fi	gure 2: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on Isokinetic Peak Power75
Fi	gure 3: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on Vmax76
Fi: du	gure 4: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on Time to Exhaustion ring Intermittent Isometric Muscular Contractions77
Fig Iso	gure 5: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on Maximal Voluntary ometric Contraction (MVIC) Force Before and After Intermittent Isometric Fatigue Protocol 
Man	uscript 3:
Inor	ganic Nitrate, Exercise Intensity, and Vascular Function in Post-Menopausal Females.79
1.	Introduction
2.	Methods82
3.	Results
4.	Discussion
5.	Conclusion92
6.	References
Fi	gure 1: Study Schematic
Та	ble 1: Participant Characteristics102
Fi	gure 2: The effects of inorganic nitrate (BRJ) or placebo (PL) on plasma nitrite104
Fig FN	gure 3: The effects of inorganic nitrate (BRJ) or placebo (PL) and exercise intensity on Peak $\Delta$ AD

Table 3: Predictors for Peak $\Delta$ FMD	. 107
Figure 5: The effects of inorganic nitrate (BRJ) or placebo (PL) on mean arterial pressure	
(MAP; left) and pulse wave velocity (PWV; right) during A. Control, B. Moderate Intensity	
Exercise, C: High Intensity Exercise.	.108

## Background

#### Introduction

In 1998, Furchgott, Ignarro, and Murad were awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for their discoveries in identifying and uncovering the role of nitric oxide (NO) on the cardiovascular system<sup>1-3</sup>. Subsequently, research related to NO has grown exponentially and its role in mammalian physiology has become increasingly understood. NO, once known as endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF), is a systemic gaseous molecule that can be created via endogenous, oxygen-dependent, enzymatic means such as through the three NO synthases (NOSs). NO has several effects on the cardiovascular system including acute vasodilation and reducing vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) proliferation and platelet aggregation<sup>4,5</sup>. Thus, NO decreases the risk of atherosclerosis and offers a protection to many cardiovascular diseases (CVD), which are the leading causes of mortality<sup>6</sup>. NO is generated from the precursor L-arginine, in the presence of essential cofactors such as tetrahydrobiopterin (BH<sub>4</sub>) and oxygen, via enzymes such as endothelial NOS (eNOS)<sup>7</sup>. If oxygen and BH<sub>4</sub> are not available, eNOS can become "uncoupled", preventing the creation of NO, and creating harmful free radicals and reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide  $(O_2)$ . NO bioavailability is in constant flux, and numerous diseases elevate ROS and are associated with decreased NO bioavailability, thus worsening CVD-risk<sup>8</sup>. Importantly, there are modifiable lifestyle factors known to improve NO bioavailability and combat the vascular dysfunction associated with these comorbidities. Factors such as aerobic exercise training and eating a diet high in fruits and vegetables increases NO bioavailability and benefits the cardiovascular system<sup>9</sup>. This occurs in part by increasing antioxidant bioavailability which can "quench" oxidative stress, thus decreasing eNOS uncoupling associated with ROS<sup>10-12</sup>. Aerobic exercise offers an additive benefit to NO beyond improvements in antioxidant capacity, as exercise directly increases eNOS expression and transcription<sup>13–17</sup> and induces increases in arterial shear stress which directly mediate endothelial adaptation<sup>18</sup>. Interestingly, improving NO bioavailability benefits exercise performance (as summarized later). As such, exercise training benefits NO bioavailability, and improved NO bioavailability benefits exercise performance. As exercise training offers not only improvements in exercise performance but also amelioration of CVD-risk<sup>19</sup>, the relationship between NO and exercise is of key interest. Notably, improving NO bioavailability has shown to improve both aerobic and resistance training aspects of exercise, and recently exogenous non-enzymatic methods of increasing NO bioavailability have been explored.

#### Inorganic Nitrate

Inorganic nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) supplementation offers an exogenous approach to increase NO bioavailability in a manner that is complimentary to the oxygen dependent eNOS pathway. NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> is

naturally found in high concentrations in green leafy vegetables and roots such as spinach, kale, and beetroot<sup>20</sup>. When NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> is consumed orally, it is swallowed and absorbed into the circulation. Although a majority is excreted by the kidneys, some is sequestered into the salivary glands and secreted for an extended period into the oral cavity where it is reduced via entero-salivary commensal bacteria in the mouth and gut to nitrite  $(NO_2^{-})^{21,22}$ .  $NO_2^{-}$  is then absorbed into the blood, where under conditions of low oxygen, increased H<sup>+</sup>, deoxygenated hemoglobin, or in the presence of enzymes such as xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR),  $NO_2^{-}$  is further reduced to NO (Figure 1, left side)<sup>1</sup>. Exercise is known to induce a more hypoxic and acidic environment in the exercising muscle, especially in fast-twitch fibers during high-intensity exercise<sup>23</sup>. Thus,  $NO_3^{-}$  seems primed to impact NO bioavailability during high intensity exercise. This has been confirmed by numerous (though not all) studies showing a beneficial impact of oral  $NO_3^{-}$  on exercise performance<sup>24</sup>.

The first evidence that  $NO_3^-$  would benefit exercise was in 2007 when Larsen and colleagues showed that for a fixed sub-maximal workload, there was a reduction in submaximal oxygen (VO<sub>2</sub>) consumption after  $NO_3^-$  supplementation, a result that has since been replicated<sup>25–27</sup>.  $NO_3^$ supplementation has since been shown to improve other aspects of exercise such as aerobic endurance capacity, as well muscular power output<sup>24,28,29</sup>. Additionally, as  $NO_3^-$  improves NO bioavailability, supplementation has revealed potent effects on measures of vascular health such as blood pressure, flowmediated dilation (FMD), and measures of arterial stiffness such as pulse wave velocity (PWV)<sup>30,31</sup>. This has led to a large commercial market for supplements that may increase NO bioavailability including beetroot juice (BRJ).

Despite the increasing popularity of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation as a potential ergogenic aid, a severe disparity in the literature exists regarding the effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in the females. A recent meta-analysis reported that only 5% of all studies were exclusively studying females, with a further 15% having included females and males. Very few studies are adequately powered to compare the effects of inorganic nitrate supplementation between-sex comparisons<sup>24</sup>. This is important as males and females exhibit known sex differences to both acute and chronic exercise due to differences in their hormonal milieu, skeletal muscle fiber phenotypes, and circulatory factors such as differences in cardiac output and blood volume<sup>32</sup>. A key physiological difference is that females demonstrate fluctuations occur cyclically throughout both the menstrual cycle and the lifespan. Estrogen fluctuations occur cyclically throughout each month until menopause occurs, a period represented by estrogen deficiency. Estrogen is a key component relating to sex as a biological factor, and plays a role in both exercise performance<sup>33</sup> and vascular health<sup>34</sup>, and thus merits further exploration alongside NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation.

#### Estrogen and NO

Estrogens in females are released primarily by the ovaries and, in health and in the absence of pregnancy, fluctuate cyclically across the menstrual cycle until women reach the menopausal transition in middle-age (around age 50), at which point the ovaries no longer produce estrogen at significant concentrations. Of the estrogens that exist in humans, estradiol is the most abundant and potent estrogen in humans, and its vascular effects are exerted by the binding to estrogen receptors (ERs) present on vascular endothelial<sup>35</sup> and smooth muscle cells (VSCMs)<sup>36</sup>, as well as in the heart<sup>37</sup>. Estrogen impacts the vasculature in numerous ways including alterations to inflammation, vasoconstrictors, ion channel alterations, kidney function, sympathetic activity, and genetic and molecular alterations<sup>38</sup>. Importantly, estrogen increases endogenous NO bioavailability<sup>39</sup> by preserving eNOS via complex interactions that both upregulate, as well as spare, bioavailable NO<sup>38,40-42</sup>. As such, the effect of estrogen on NO bioavailability is of key interest as it relates to  $NO_3^-$  supplementation. Estrogen improves NO bioavailability via a myriad of mechanisms. Estradiol (E2) circulates in the blood after release from the ovaries and binds to ERs on both the endothelium and VSMCs, after which NO bioavailability can be increased by two separate major pathways: i.) Genomic pathway; ii.) Non-genomic pathways<sup>38</sup>. The genomic pathway involves estrogen binding to the ER, and the ER to a specific DNA sequence known as estrogen response elements (ERE), eliciting expression of various estrogen-responsive genes and protein expression. Namely, ER activates eNOS mRNA and protein expression<sup>43</sup>, and thus NO bioavailability can be directly increased by estrogen and estrogen binding to ERs. The non-genomic pathways involve estrogen binding to ERs, resulting in increased enzymatic activity and activation of alternative pathways, all of which upregulate eNOS<sup>44-48</sup>. A summary of this is presented in Figure 1 (right). Thus, estrogen increases NO bioavailability by several pathways, all of which require mediation via the presence of ERs. Importantly, ERs are dramatically diminished post-menopause<sup>49,50</sup>, and thus a major pathway for increasing NO bioavailability is entirely ceased, warranting need for other pathways for enhancing NO.



Figure 1: The effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (left) and estrogen (right) on NO bioavailability.

Left: NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, and NO circulate in the blood, whereby in situations of hypoxia or in the presence of elevated H<sup>+</sup> or enzymes such as xanthine oxidoreductase (XO), NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> can convert to NO via deoxygenated-hemoglobin (DeoxyHb). NO can then diffuse into the VSMC to cause vasodilation. Right: Estrogen (E2) circulates in the blood and can bind to E2 receptors (ER) on the endothelial cells (EC). E2 can then increase NO bioavailability by i.) a non-genomic pathway and ii.) a genomic pathway. The non-genomic pathway involves upregulation of enzymes involved in Sirt-1, RAS-ERK, PI3K-AKT, and calcium calmodulin (CaM) pathways, all of which can increase eNOS activity to synthesize NO. The genomic pathway involves E2 binding to ERs on the nucleus before entering the nucleus and binding to estrogen response elements (EREs), directly increasing eNOS mRNA and protein expression. NO from estrogen can then diffuse out of the ECs and into the VSMC to cause vasodilation.

# Estrogen and the Menstrual Cycle

While post-menopausal females are at a high-risk for CVD development at least in part due to the exponential drop in endogenous estrogen production and loss of ERs (detailed later), pre-menopausal women also experience fluctuations in estrogen that occur monthly. Menstruation in a typical eumenorrheic cycle can be divided into phases that represent a different hormonal milieu with fluctuations in estrogen, progesterone, luteinizing hormone, and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH). While hormones other than estrogen play an important role in female reproduction, less emphasis on these

hormones has been studied as estrogen appears to be the primary hormonal driver of potential alterations to vascular function<sup>51–53</sup> and exercise<sup>33,54–56</sup>. Briefly, at the start of menses (typically deemed "day 1" and indicated often as the start of the "early follicular phase" - EF), there is relatively low circulating estrogen, which slowly rises until a peak around days ~10-14 (in the "late follicular phase" - LF) after which the follicular phase ends, ovulation occurs, and the luteal phase begins (see Figure 2). At this point, estrogen tends to fluctuate more unpredictably than in the follicular phase, but generally remains elevated but with simultaneous elevation of progesterone, a hormone known to counteract some of the beneficial impacts of estrogen<sup>57</sup>. Because of this, most research in females has focused on recruiting participants for observation during the EF phase only, or during both the EF and LF phases to explore the impact of estrogen fluctuations alone. This allows for exploration of any impact of cyclic estrogen fluctuations on factors such as exercise and vascular health.



Figure 2: The ovarian cycle in a normally menstruating, eumenorrheic, pre-menopausal female

### Estrogen and Menopause

As estrogen fluctuations occur cyclically in pre-menopausal years across the menstrual cycle, this can only occur a finite number of times in a females' lifespan as ovarian follicles are lost with each ovulation occurance. Typically, around age 45 the ovarian follicles are depleted to the extent that estrogen

production from the ovaries is severely diminished. This results in a feedback loop in which the hypothalamus, via GnRH signaling, and pituitary gland releases excessive FSH in an attempt to raise the decreasing estrogen release. Eventually, due to lack of follicles, estrogen will no longer be released. At this point, females will have either an inconsistent (peri-menopause) or a complete lack of a menstrual cycle (menopause).

As estrogen is diminished, so are estrogen's cardio-protective properties and thus CVD risk rises rapidly<sup>6,58</sup>. As such, post-menopausal (PM) females have impaired FMD<sup>59-61</sup> and worsened arterial stiffness<sup>62</sup> compared to age-matched pre-menopausal females. FMD also worsens at nearly double the rate in PM females compared to age-matched males<sup>63</sup>. Importantly, this worsened FMD in PM can be attenuated by chronic replacement of estradiol $^{60,64}$  further emphasizing the benefits of estrogens on vascular health. Endothelium-dependent vasodilation<sup>65,66</sup> and coronary artery atherosclerosis<sup>67</sup> are also improved by exogenous estrogen in PM females. Estrogen replacement likely improves vascular health in PM females in a manner coinciding with endogenous NO pathways, as amelioration of oxidative stress via acute antioxidant vitamin  $C^{60}$  and acute increases in BH<sub>4</sub><sup>68</sup> both improve FMD similar to estrogen in PM females. Importantly, the combination of antioxidants with estrogen replacement did not result in additive improvements, suggesting a similar pathway between the two. Because the presence of estrogen receptors (which are lost in menopause due to a lack of binding activity) have shown to correlate highly with eNOS expression and phosphorylation<sup>50</sup>, it is likely that the loss of estrogen leads to the loss of eNOS. This is further supported by studies in which estrogen therapy improves FMD less in those with a longer time-since-menopause (and thus less estrogen receptors and lower expression of eNOS)<sup>69</sup>. As such, it appears that the loss of vascular health in PM females may be mediated by endogenous NO pathway downregulation.

Interestingly, despite aerobic exercise training typically improving FMD in older adults, exercise training following recommendations *at moderate intensity* does not seem to improve FMD in PM females unless administered with concomitant estrogen<sup>64,70</sup> or unless baseline FMD is severely blunted<sup>71</sup>. This suggests estrogen-dependent (or perhaps NO-dependent) adaptations to moderate-intensity exercise training exist for improving vascular health and CVD-risk in PM. Because estrogen therapy brings potential secondary health risks<sup>72</sup>, alternatives to increase NO bioavailability and perhaps rescue the exercise-induced benefits to vascular health in PM females are paramount. There are limited pharmacological or lifestyle interventions that improve the vascular health responses in PM females without simultaneously potentially causing other health risks. Thus, implementation of other strategies to increase NO bioavailability and cardiovascular health should be explored, one of which is NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation.

#### *NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and Exercise in Pre-Menopausal Females*

While NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> research has begun to include young adult females, only a few studies have controlled for menstrual cycle (MC) phase<sup>73–76</sup>, whereas the majority have not<sup>77–82</sup>. A meta-analysis concluded that MC phase may alter exercise performance<sup>33</sup>, although to a small degree. As such, some authors have used this evidence as reason to *not* control for MC phase when studying females. This approach may result in confounding our understanding of female physiology. It is possible that some females experience differences in exercise via alterations in estrogen and NO, while others may not. This topic has fueled a Point:Counterpoint debate in the literature recently<sup>83</sup> further emphasizes the importance of addressing these potential disparities in knowledge. Ultimately, based on existing data indicating differences in exercise outcomes across the MC, controlling for the MC when studying females is important in understanding potential hormonal interactions with exogenous supplements, such as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>.

To our knowledge, there are no studies to date which explore the impact of  $NO_3^-$  supplementation across the MC on any exercise outcomes, and studies observing the effects of  $NO_3^-$  in females in general is very limited. The majority of data thus far suggests that  $NO_3^-$  may be less effective at improving exercise capacity in healthy females compared to males<sup>84</sup>, with largely equivocal results.

- Submaximal VO<sub>2</sub> in males is lowered after inorganic nitrate supplementation, indicating improved exercise economy<sup>25,27</sup>. Similar results have been reported in females in some<sup>85,86</sup>, but not all<sup>87</sup> studies. However, studies in this area have either not controlled for the MC<sup>86</sup>, tested females only during the luteal phase<sup>73</sup>, or tested females on hormonal contraceptives with no mention of testing on placebo or active pill phase<sup>87</sup>. As such, whether NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> improves exercise economy differently across the MC has yet to be explored.
- ii) Exercise performance as measured by endurance capacity and time trial performance is improved after NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation<sup>24</sup>. However, studies testing the impact of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> on time trial performance in females are equivocal<sup>79,87–89</sup>. One study reported BRJ improved time trial performance in females performing a 500 meter kayaking event (n = 5)<sup>89</sup>. In contrast, cycling time trial performance was not improved regardless of BRJ supplementation, or BRJ combinations with other ergogenics such as carbohydrates or caffeine<sup>79,87,88</sup>. Overall, due to this widespread lack of consistent control of the MC, it is unknown whether this may impact the ability of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to improve endurance in females.
- iii) Measures of maximal power have important implications in both exercise performance and clinical factors such as the ability to perform activities of daily living. NO plays a role in muscular contraction<sup>90,91</sup>, and thus the impact of  $NO_3^-$  on these outcomes warrants exploration. A recent meta-analysis concluded that both acute and chronic  $NO_3^-$  supplementation increases maximal power by ~5%, with no differences in sex on these

outcomes<sup>29</sup>. NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> also improves isokinetic peak power, especially in knee extensor muscles when performed at higher angular velocities (i.e., 360°/s and at an estimated max power)<sup>77,92–</sup> <sup>94</sup>. This is perhaps due to the fast-twitch fiber nature (and thus relative hypoxic environment of the muscle) of such contractions. As previously mentioned, this would facilitate conversion of NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> to NO. Despite these benefits, there still lies a paucity of data in females, as only one study in this area has explored sex differences<sup>77</sup>. Interestingly, in this study, Coggan et al. studied a heterogeneous group of older adults (47 ± 20 yrs) and showed that acute BRJ improved maximal power 4.4% in pooled data, with females trending towards greater improvements (p = 0.079). However, the authors note that this studied was not powered to determine sex differences. Thus, while it appears that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> may improve factors contributing to maximal power and torque, the data in females is insufficient as it stands, and the menstrual cycle has not been considered in these studies.

Ultimately, the data examining the effects of  $NO_3^-$  supplementation on exercise are mostly in males, with the few studies in females showing inconsistencies in study design, equivocal findings, and an overall lack of observation into any impacts that estrogen fluctuations throughout the MC may play on these outcomes. This represents a large gap in the literature and has important implications on whether or not females would benefit from  $NO_3^-$  supplementation.

### NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and Exercise in Post-Menopausal Females

While the disparity in sex research is ubiquitous, the known interaction that estrogen has with NO bioavailability paired with the importance of NO for both exercise and vascular health makes this an important and novel path for exploration. Whether  $NO_3^-$  can benefit the effects of exercise on vascular health in a manner that is similar to (but potentially safer than) estrogen therapy, offers a potential therapeutic avenue for exercise combined with  $NO_3^-$ .

Exercise training improves central and peripheral vascular health in healthy, diseased, and aging individuals via a combination of factors including arterial remodeling, increases in capillary density, mitochondrial biogenesis, and enhancement of NO bioavailability<sup>95–99</sup>. This ultimately contributes to exercise-mediated improvements in mortality<sup>100</sup> and CVD risk<sup>101</sup>. Despite this, because the exercise-induced benefits in FMD are lost PM (unless estrogen is administered), alternative therapies are needed for this at-risk population. Importantly, a meta-analysis of 7 randomized controlled trials concluded that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> improves FMD by ~0.62%<sup>31</sup>. While NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> improves NO bioavailability, FMD is also potentially enhanced by improving both oxidative stress and inflammation<sup>102–107</sup>, and thus NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> represents an affordable, feasible, long-term method to possibly improve FMD and subsequently CVD-risk in PM

females. Additionally, the data that has revealed a lack of beneficial impact of exercise training on FMD in PM females have only explored exercise at moderate intensities<sup>70</sup>. As exercise recommendations suggest 150 min/week of moderate intensity exercise, or 75 min/week of high-intensity exercise<sup>108</sup>, it appears that at least the moderate intensity interventions may be not sufficient for improving vascular health in PM females. However, it is possible that high-intensity exercise may offer a greater stimulus for shear-induced vasodilation<sup>18,109</sup> in PM females. This may result in greater NO bioavailability and vascular health adaptations. Further, as NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> reduces to NO to a greater extent in situations of hypoxia<sup>110</sup>, it's possible that high-intensity exercise (which uses more fast-twitch muscle fibers shown to benefit more from NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-111</sup>) paired with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation may result in additive benefits to vascular health.

#### Conclusion

While  $NO_3^-$  supplementation appears to offer potentially ergogenic and therapeutic benefits to both exercise and vascular health, this is largely unstudied in females. Any potential interaction that  $NO_3^$ supplementation may have with estrogen either across the menstrual cycle, or with estrogen-depletion in post-menopause is unknown. As  $NO_3^-$  supplementation has increased dramatically in recreational and competitive athletes, any differential impact that  $NO_3^-$  may have in females must be elucidated to give evidence-based guidance towards supplementation and to maximize the risk to benefit ratio. Finally, the current recommendations to perform moderate intensity exercise for improvements in cardiovascular health appear inadequate in PM females. Thus, exploration of whether high-intensity exercise, addition of  $NO_3^-$  supplementation, or perhaps a combination of the two can improve the exercise-mediated responses to vascular health in PM females are novel. These findings may have important implications and have the potential to change the current recommendations for exercise in this at-risk population.

### **References:**

- 1. Furchgott, R. F. & Zawadzki, J. V. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature* **288**, 373–376 (1980).
- Ignarro, L. J., Byrns, R. E., Buga, G. M. & Wood, K. S. Endothelium-derived relaxing factor from pulmonary artery and vein possesses pharmacologic and chemical properties identical to those of nitric oxide radical. *Circ Res* 61, 866–879 (1987).
- 3. Arnold, W. P., Mittal, C. K., Katsuki, S. & Murad, F. Nitric oxide activates guanylate cyclase and increases guanosine 3':5'-cyclic monophosphate levels in various tissue preparations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **74**, 3203–3207 (1977).
- Joannides, R. *et al.* Nitric Oxide Is Responsible for Flow-Dependent Dilatation of Human Peripheral Conduit Arteries In Vivo. *Circulation* 91, 1314–1319 (1995).
- 5. Quyyumi, A. A. *et al.* Nitric Oxide Activity in the Atherosclerotic Human Coronary Circulation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* **29**, 308–317 (1997).
- 6. Virani, S. S. *et al.* Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2020 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* **141**, (2020).
- 7. Li, H. & Förstermann, U. Uncoupling of endothelial NO synthase in atherosclerosis and vascular disease. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology* **13**, 161–167 (2013).
- 8. Farah, C., Michel, L. Y. M. & Balligand, J.-L. Nitric oxide signalling in cardiovascular health and disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* **15**, 292–316 (2018).
- Ahluwalia, A. *et al.* Dietary Nitrate and the Epidemiology of Cardiovascular Disease: Report From a National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Workshop. *Journal of the American Heart Association* 5, 1–10 (2016).
- Bailey, S. J. & Jones, A. M. Nitric Oxide Biochemistry and Exercise Performance in Humans. in *Oxidative Eustress in Exercise Physiology* 137–151 (CRC Press, 2022). doi:10.1201/9781003051619-12.
- Braga, V. A. V. N., Couto, G. K., Lazzarin, M. C., Rossoni, L. V. & Medeiros, A. Aerobic exercise training prevents the onset of endothelial dysfunction via increased nitric oxide bioavailability and reduced reactive oxygen species in an experimental model of menopause. *PLoS ONE* 10, 1–13 (2015).

- Shannon, O. M., Clifford, T., Seals, D. R., Craighead, D. H. & Rossman, M. J. Nitric oxide, aging and aerobic exercise: Sedentary individuals to Master's athletes. *Nitric Oxide* 125–126, 31–39 (2022).
- Johnson, L. R., Rush, J. W. E., Turk, J. R., Price, E. M. & Laughlin, M. H. Short-term exercise training increases ACh-induced relaxation and eNOS protein in porcine pulmonary arteries. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **90**, 1102–1110 (2001).
- Delp, M. & Lauglin, H. Time course of enhanced endothelium-mediated dilation in aorta of trained rats. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 29, 1454–1461 (1997).
- Delp, M. D., McAllister, R. M. & Laughlin, M. H. Exercise training alters endotheliumdependent vasoreactivity of rat abdominal aorta. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 75, 1354– 1363 (1993).
- Sessa, W. C., Pritchard, K., Seyedi, N., Wang, J. & Hintze, T. H. Chronic exercise in dogs increases coronary vascular nitric oxide production and endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase gene expression. *Circ Res* 74, 349–353 (1994).
- Woodman, C. R., Muller, J. M., Laughlin, M. H. & Price, E. M. Induction of nitric oxide synthase mRNA in coronary resistance arteries isolated from exercise-trained pigs. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 273, H2575–H2579 (1997).
- Tinken, T. M. *et al.* Shear stress mediates endothelial adaptations to exercise training in humans. *Hypertension* 55, 312–318 (2010).
- Fiuza-Luces, C. *et al.* Exercise benefits in cardiovascular disease: beyond attenuation of traditional risk factors. *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 15, 731–743 (2018).
- Hord, N. G., Tang, Y. & Bryan, N. S. Food sources of nitrates and nitrites : the physiologic context for potential health benefits. *Am J Clin Nutr* **90**, 1–10 (2009).
- Behrens, C. E., Fisher, G. & Fernandez, J. R. DIETARY NITRATE AND THE ORAL MICROBIOME IN OBESITY, HEALTH AND EXERCISE. (2020).
- 22. González-Soltero, R. *et al.* Role of Oral and Gut Microbiota in Dietary Nitrate. *Nutrients* 12, 1–14 (2020).
- Jones, A. M., Ferguson, S. K., Bailey, S. J., Vanhatalo, A. & Poole, D. C. Fiber Type-Specific Effects of Dietary Nitrate. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews* 44, 53–60 (2016).

- 24. Senefeld, J. W. *et al.* Ergogenic Effect of Nitrate Supplementation: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* **52**, 2250–2261 (2020).
- 25. Larsen, F. J., Weitzberg, E., Lundberg, J. O. & Ekblom, B. Effects of dietary nitrate on oxygen cost during exercise. *Acta Physiologica* **191**, 59–66 (2007).
- Vanhatalo, A. *et al.* Acute and chronic effects of dietary nitrate supplementation on blood pressure and the physiological responses to moderate-intensity and incremental exercise. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 299, R1121–R1131 (2010).
- Bailey, S. J. *et al.* Dietary nitrate supplementation reduces the O2 cost of low-intensity exercise and enhances tolerance to high-intensity exercise in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **107**, 1144–1155 (2009).
- 28. Gao, C. *et al.* The effects of dietary nitrate supplementation on endurance exercise performance and cardiorespiratory measures in healthy adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr* **18**, 55 (2021).
- 29. Coggan, A. R., Baranauskas, M. N., Hinrichs, R. J., Liu, Z. & Carter, S. J. Effect of dietary nitrate on human muscle power: a systematic review and individual participant data meta-analysis. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr* **18**, 66 (2021).
- Jackson, J. K., Patterson, A. J., MacDonald-Wicks, L. K., Oldmeadow, C. & McEvoy, M. A. The role of inorganic nitrate and nitrite in cardiovascular disease risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis of human evidence. *Nutrition Reviews* 76, 348–371 (2018).
- Bahrami, L. S., Arabi, S. M., Feizy, Z. & Rezvani, R. The effect of beetroot inorganic nitrate supplementation on cardiovascular risk factors: A systematic review and metaregression of randomized controlled trials | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. *Nitric Oxide* 115, 8– 22 (2021).
- 32. Ansdell, P. *et al.* Physiological sex differences affect the integrative response to exercise: acute and chronic implications. *Experimental Physiology* **105**, 2007–2021 (2020).
- McNulty, K. L. *et al.* The Effects of Menstrual Cycle Phase on Exercise Performance in Eumenorrheic Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports Medicine* (2020) doi:10.1007/s40279-020-01319-3.

- Williams, J. S., Dunford, E. C. & MacDonald, M. J. Impact of the menstrual cycle on peripheral vascular function in premenopausal women: Systematic review and metaanalysis. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 319, H1327– H1337 (2020).
- 35. Kim-Schulze, S. *et al.* Expression of an Estrogen Receptor by Human Coronary Artery and Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells. *Circulation* **94**, 1402–1407 (1996).
- Karas, R. H., Patterson, B. L. & Mendelsohn, M. E. Human vascular smooth muscle cells contain functional estrogen receptor. *Circulation* 89, 1943–1950 (1994).
- Wu, J., Dai, F., Li, C. & Zou, Y. Gender Differences in Cardiac Hypertrophy. *Journal of Cardiovascular Translational Research* 13, 73–84 (2020).
- 38. Novella, S., Dantas, A. P., Segarra, G., Medina, P. & Hermenegildo, C. Vascular aging in women: Is estrogen the fountain of youth? *Frontiers in Physiology* **3 JUN**, 1–8 (2012).
- 39. Kesim, M. D., Aydin, Y., Erdemir, M. & Atis, A. Nitric oxide in postmenopausal women taking three different HRT regimens. *Maturitas* **50**, 52–57 (2005).
- 40. Best, P. J. M. The Effect of Estrogen Replacement Therapy on Plasma Nitric Oxide and Endothelin-1 Levels in Postmenopausal Women. *Ann Intern Med* **128**, 285 (1998).
- McNeill, A. M., Zhang, C., Stanczyk, F. Z., Duckles, S. P. & Krause, D. N. Estrogen Increases Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase via Estrogen Receptors in Rat Cerebral Blood Vessels. *Stroke* 33, 1685–1691 (2002).
- Mendelsohn, M. & Karas, R. The Protective Effects of Estrogen on the Cardiovascular System. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 340, 1801–1811 (1999).
- 43. Sumi, D. & Ignarro, L. J. Estrogen-related receptor alpha1 up-regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression. *PNAS* **100**, 14451–14456 (2003).
- Björnström, L. & Sjöberg, M. Mechanisms of Estrogen Receptor Signaling: Convergence of Genomic and Nongenomic Actions on Target Genes. *Molecular Endocrinology* 19, 833– 842 (2005).
- 45. Dantas, A. P. V. *et al.* In vivo evidence for antioxidant potential of estrogen in microvessels of female spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* **39**, 405–411 (2002).
- 46. Han, G. *et al.* Nongenomic, endothelium-independent effects of estrogen on human coronary smooth muscle are mediated by type I (neuronal) NOS and PI3-kinase-Akt

signaling. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology **293**, 314–321 (2007).

- Hisamoto, K. *et al.* Estrogen Induces the Akt-dependent Activation of Endothelial Nitricoxide Synthase in Vascular Endothelial Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 3459– 3467 (2001).
- Rubio-Gayosso, I. *et al.* 17β-Estradiol Increases Intracellular Calcium Concentration Through a Short-Term and Nongenomic Mechanism in Rat Vascular Endothelium in Culture. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 36, 196–202 (2000).
- Park, Y. M. *et al.* Time since menopause and skeletal muscle estrogen receptors, PGC-1α, and AMPK. *Menopause* 24, 815–823 (2017).
- Gavin, K. M., Seals, D. R., Silver, A. E. & Moreau, K. L. Vascular Endothelial Estrogen Receptor α Is Modulated by Estrogen Status and Related to Endothelial Function and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase in Healthy Women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 94, 3513–3520 (2009).
- Parker, B. A., Smithmyer, S. L., Pelberg, J. A., Mishkin, A. D. & Proctor, D. N. Sexspecific influence of aging on exercising leg blood flow. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 104, 655–664 (2008).
- Pabbidi, M. R. *et al.* Sex differences in the vascular function and related mechanisms: Role of 17β-estradiol. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 315, H1499–H1518 (2018).
- Adkisson, E. J., Casey, D. P., Beck, D. T., Gurovich, A. N. & Martin, J. S. Central, Peripheral and Resistance Arterial Reactivity: Fluctuates During the Phases of the Menstrual Cycle. *Exp Biol Med* 235, 111–118 (2010).
- Sipavičiene, S., Daniusevičiute, L., Kliziene, I., Kamandulis, S. & Skurvydas, A. Effects of estrogen fluctuation during the menstrual cycle on the response to stretch-shortening exercise in females. *BioMed Research International* 2013, (2013).
- 55. Chidi-Ogbolu, N. & Baar, K. Effect of estrogen on musculoskeletal performance and injury risk. *Frontiers in Physiology* **10**, (2019).
- Oydanich, M. *et al.* Mechanisms of sex differences in exercise capacity. *American journal of physiology. Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* **316**, R832–R838 (2019).

- Kawano, H. *et al.* Effect of medroxyprogesterone acetate plus estradiol on endotheliumdependent vasodilation in postmenopausal women. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 87, 238–240 (2001).
- El Khoudary, S. R. *et al.* Menopause Transition and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: Implications for Timing of Early Prevention: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 142, e506–e532 (2020).
- Moreau, K. L., Hildreth, K. L., Meditz, A. L., Deane, K. D. & Kohrt, W. M. Endothelial function is impaired across the stages of the menopause transition in healthy women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 97, 4692–4700 (2012).
- 60. Moreau, K. L., Hildreth, K. L., Klawitter, J., Blatchford, P. & Kohrt, W. M. Decline in endothelial function across the menopause transition in healthy women is related to decreased estradiol and increased oxidative stress. *GeroScience* **42**, 1699–1714 (2020).
- Moreau, K. L. & Hildreth, K. L. Vascular Aging across the Menopause Transition in Healthy Women. *Advances in Vascular Medicine* 2014, 1–12 (2014).
- Samargandy, S. *et al.* Arterial stiffness accelerates within 1 year of the final menstrual period: The SWAN heart study. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 1001– 1008 (2020) doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.313622.
- Celermajer, D. S. *et al.* Aging is associated with endothelial dysfunction in healthy men years before the age-related decline in women. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 24, 471–476 (1994).
- Moreau, K. L., Stauffer, B. L., Kohrt, W. M. & Seals, D. R. Essential Role of Estrogen for Improvements in Vascular Endothelial Function With Endurance Exercise in Postmenopausal Women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 98, 4507– 4515 (2013).
- 65. Williams, J. K., Adams, M. R. & Klopfenstein, H. S. Estrogen modulates responses of atherosclerotic coronary arteries. 8 (1990).
- Williams, J. K., Adams, M. R., Herrington, D. M. & Clarkson, T. B. Short-term administration of estrogen and vascular responce of atherosclerotic coronary arteries. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 20, 452–457 (1992).

- Adams, M. R. *et al.* Inhibition of coronary artery atherosclerosis by 17-beta estradiol in ovariectomized monkeys. Lack of an effect of added progesterone. *Arteriosclerosis* 10, 1051–1057 (1990).
- Moreau, K. L., Meditz, A., Deane, K. D. & Kohrt, W. M. Tetrahydrobiopterin improves endothelial function and decreases arterial stiffness in estrogen-deficient postmenopausal women. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* **302**, H1211– H1218 (2012).
- Vitale, C. *et al.* Time since menopause influences the acute and chronic effect of estrogens on endothelial function. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 28, 348–352 (2008).
- Pierce, G. L., Eskurza, I., Walker, A. E., Fay, T. N. & Seals, D. R. Sex Specific Effects of Habitual Aerobic Exercise on Brachial Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation in Middle-Aged and Older Adults. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 120, (2011).
- Swift, D. L., Earnest, C. P., Blair, S. N. & Church, T. S. The effect of different doses of aerobic exercise training on endothelial function in postmenopausal women with elevated blood pressure: Results from the DREW study. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 46, 753– 758 (2012).
- Anderson, G. L. *et al.* Effects of Conjugated Equine Estrogen in Postmenopausal Women With Hysterectomy The Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA* 291, 1701–1712 (2004).
- Bond, V. *et al.* Effects of Nitrate Supplementation on Cardiovascular and Autonomic Reactivity in African-American Females. *ISRN Physiology* 2014, 1–7 (2014).
- Buck, C. L. *et al.* Effects of sodium phosphate and beetroot juice supplementation on repeated-sprint ability in females. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 115, 2205–2213 (2015).
- Curry, B. H. *et al.* Effects of a dietary beetroot juice treatment on systemic and cerebral haemodynamics-A pilot study. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research* 10, CC01– CC05 (2016).
- Sundqvist, M. L., Lundberg, J. O. & Weitzberg, E. Effects of antiseptic mouthwash on resting metabolic rate: A randomized, double-blind, crossover study. *Nitric Oxide - Biology and Chemistry* 61, 38–44 (2016).

- 77. Coggan, A. R. *et al.* Dietary nitrate-induced increases in human muscle power: high versus low responders. *Physiological Reports* **6**, 1–8 (2018).
- Fan, J.-L. *et al.* Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances cerebrovascular CO 2 reactivity in a sex-specific manner . *Journal of Applied Physiology* 760–769 (2019) doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01116.2018.
- Glaister, M., Pattison, J. R., Muniz-Pumares, D., Patterson, S. D. & Foley, P. Effects of Dietary Nitrate, Caffeine, and their Combination on 20-km Cycling Time Trial Performance. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research* 29, 165–174 (2015).
- Jonvik, K. L., Van Dijk, J. W., Senden, J. M. G., Van Loon, L. J. C. & Verdijk, L. B. The effect of beetroot juice supplementation on dynamic apnea and intermittent sprint performance in elite female water polo players. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism* 28, 468–473 (2018).
- Kapil, V. *et al.* Inorganic nitrate supplementation lowers blood pressure in humans: Role for nitrite-derived no. *Hypertension* 56, 274–281 (2010).
- Rienks, J. N., Vanderwoude, A. A., Maas, E., Blea, Z. M. & Subudhi, A. W. Effect of Beetroot Juice on Moderate-Intensity Exercise at a Constant Rating of Perceived Exertion. *International journal of exercise science* 8, 277–286 (2015).
- Giersch, G. E. W. *et al.* Commentaries on Point:Counterpoint: Investigators should/should not control for menstrual cycle phase when performing studies of vascular control. *J Appl Physiol* (1985) **129**, 1122–1135 (2020).
- 84. Senefeld, J. W. *et al.* Ergogenic Effect of Nitrate Supplementation: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* **52**, 2250–2261 (2020).
- Bond, V., Curry, B. H., Adams, R. G., Millis, R. M. & Haddad, G. E. Cardiorespiratory function associated with dietary nitrate supplementation. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 168–172 (2014).
- Rienks, J. N., Vanderwoude, A. A., Maas, E., Blea, Z. M. & Subudhi, A. W. Effect of Beetroot Juice on Moderate-Intensity Exercise at a Constant Rating of Perceived Exertion. *International journal of exercise science* 8, 277–286 (2015).
- Wickham, K. A. *et al.* No effect of beetroot juice supplementation on exercise economy and performance in recreationally active females despite increased torque production. *Physiological Reports* 7, 1–14 (2019).

- Lane, S. C. *et al.* Single and combined effects of beetroot juice and caffeine supplementation on cycling time trial performance. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* **39**, 1050– 1057 (2014).
- Peeling, P., Cox, G. R., Bullock, N. & Burke, L. M. Beetroot juice improves on-water 500 M time-trial performance, and laboratory-based paddling economy in national and international-level kayak athletes. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism* 25, 278–284 (2015).
- Godfrey, E. W. & Schwarte, R. C. The role of nitric oxide signaling in the formation of the neuromuscular junction. *J Neurocytol* 32, 591–602 (2003).
- Petrick, H. L. *et al.* Dietary nitrate increases submaximal SERCA activity and ADP-transfer to mitochondria in slow-twitch muscle of female mice. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* ajpendo.00371.2021 (2022) doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00371.2021.
- Coggan, A. R. *et al.* A Single Dose of Dietary Nitrate Increases Maximal Knee Extensor Angular Velocity and Power in Healthy Older Men and Women. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* XX, 1–7 (2019).
- Coggan, A. R. *et al.* Effect of acute dietary nitrate intake on maximal knee extensor speed and power in healthy men and women. *Nitric Oxide Biology and Chemistry* 48, 16–21 (2015).
- Coggan, A. R. *et al.* Acute Dietary Nitrate Intake Improves Muscle Contractile Function in Patients with Heart Failure: A Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Trial. *Circulation: Heart Failure* 8, 914–920 (2015).
- 95. Green, D. J. & Smith, K. J. Effects of Exercise on Vascular Function, Structure, and Health in Humans. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 1–15 (2018).
- Hellsten, Y. & Nyberg, M. Cardiovascular adaptations to exercise training. *Comprehensive Physiology* 6, 1–32 (2016).
- Campbell, A., Grace, F., Ritchie, L., Beaumont, A. & Sculthorpe, N. Long-term aerobic exercise improves vascular function into old age: A systematic review, meta-analysis and meta regression of observational and interventional studies. *Frontiers in Physiology* 10, (2019).

- 98. Seals, D. R., Nagy, E. E. & Moreau, K. L. Aerobic exercise training and vascular function with ageing in healthy men and women. *Journal of Physiology* **597**, 4901–4914 (2019).
- Green, D. J., Hopman, M. T. E., Padilla, J., Laughlin, M. H. & Thijssen, D. H. J. Vascular Adaptation to Exercise in Humans: Role of Hemodynamic Stimuli. *Physiological Reviews* (2017) doi:10.1152/physrev.00014.2016.
- 100. Mandsager, K. *et al.* Association of Cardiorespiratory Fitness With Long-term Mortality Among Adults Undergoing Exercise Treadmill Testing. *JAMA network open* 1, e183605 (2018).
- 101. Laukkanen, J. A., Kurl, S. & Salonen, J. T. Cardiorespiratory fitness and physical activity as risk predictors of future atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases. *Current atherosclerosis reports* 4, 468–476 (2002).
- 102. Shepherd, A. I. *et al.* 'Beet' the cold: Beetroot juice supplementation improves peripheral blood flow, endothelial function, and anti-inflammatory status in individuals with Raynaud's phenomenon. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **127**, 1478–1490 (2019).
- 103. Menezes, E. F. *et al.* Potential Benefits of Nitrate Supplementation on Antioxidant Defense System and Blood Pressure Responses after Exercise Performance. *Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity* 2019, 7218936 (2019).
- 104. Kozlowska, L. *et al.* Changes in Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, and Muscle Damage Markers Following Diet and Beetroot Juice Supplementation in Elite Fencers. *Antioxidants* 9, 1–21 (2020).
- 105. Zollbrecht, C., Persson, A. E. G., Lundberg, J. O., Weitzberg, E. & Carlström, M. Nitritemediated reduction of macrophage NADPH oxidase activity is dependent on xanthine oxidoreductase-derived nitric oxide but independent of S-nitrosation. *Redox Biology* 10, 119–127 (2016).
- 106. Carlstrom, M. & Montenegro, M. F. Therapeutic value of stimulating the nitrate-nitritenitric oxide pathway to attenuate oxidative stress and restore nitric oxide bioavailability in cardiorenal disease. *Journal of Internal Medicine* **285**, 2–18 (2019).
- 107. Yang, T. *et al.* Inorganic nitrite attenuates NADPH oxidase-derived superoxide generation in activated macrophages via a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 83, 159–166 (2015).

- 108. Farrel, P. A., Joyner, M. J. & Caiozzo, V. J. ACSM's Advanced Exercise Physiology. vol. 143 (2012).
- 109. Afousi, A. G. *et al.* Improved brachial artery shear patterns and increased flow-mediated dilatation after low-volume high-intensity interval training in type 2 diabetes. *Experimental Physiology* **103**, 1264–1276 (2018).
- 110. Lundberg, J. O., Weitzberg, E. & Gladwin, M. T. The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* **7**, 156–167 (2008).
- 111. Ferguson, S. K. *et al.* Microvascular oxygen pressures in muscles comprised of different fiber types : Impact of dietary nitrate supplementation. *Nitric Oxide* 48, 38–43 (2015).

# Manuscript 1:

# The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate Supplementation on Exercise Economy and Endurance Capacity Across the Menstrual Cycle

Austin C. Hogwood<sup>1</sup>, Joaquin Ortiz De Zevallos<sup>1</sup>, Ka'eo Kruse<sup>1</sup>, Meredith Buckley<sup>1</sup>, Jeison DeGuzman<sup>1</sup>, Arthur Weltman<sup>1,2</sup>, Jason D. Allen<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Kinesiology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Medicine, University of Virginia School of Medicine, Charlottesville, VA, USA, 22904

#### Abstract:

Oral inorganic nitrate  $(NO_3)$  supplementation has been shown to increase bioavailable NO and provide potential ergogenic benefits in males, however data in females is scarce. Estrogen is known increase endogenous NO bioavailability and to fluctuate throughout the menstrual cycle (MC) being lowest in the early follicular phase (EF) and highest during the late follicular phase (LF). This study examined the effects of oral  $NO_3^-$  supplementation on exercise economy, endurance capacity, and vascular health in young females across the MC. Twelve females with eumenorrheic MC were tested in a double-blinded, randomized design. Participants consumed ~13mmol  $NO_3^{-}$ , in the form of 140ml beetroot juice (BRJ) or an identical  $NO_3^-$ -depleted placebo (PL) for ~3 days prior to lab visits and 2 hours prior to testing on lab visits. Plasma nitrate, nitrite, and estradiol were assessed, as was blood pressure and pulse wave velocity. Moderate intensity exercise economy and severe intensity time to exhaustion (TTE) were tested on a cycle ergometer. As expected, plasma estradiol was elevated in the LF phase, and plasma nitrite and nitrate were elevated in the BRJ condition. Exercise economy was unaltered by BRJ or the MC, however TTE was significantly worsened by 40 seconds (~9%) after BRJ supplementation (p = 0.04) but was not different across the MC with no interaction effects. In conclusion, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation did not affect exercise economy or vascular health and worsened aerobic endurance capacity (TTE), suggesting healthy females should proceed with caution when considering supplementation with BRJ.

#### New and Noteworthy:

While inorganic nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) supplementation has increased in popularity as a means of improving exercise performance, data in females at different phases of the menstrual cycle is lacking despite known interactions of estrogen with NO. This study revealed neither NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation nor the menstrual cycle influenced exercise economy or vascular health in healthy young eumenorrheic females, while NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation significantly worsened endurance capacity (9%) independent of the menstrual cycle.

#### 1. Introduction:

Nitric oxide (NO) is a pluripotent lipid-soluble molecule with a myriad of physiological effects (1). NO is produced endogenously in the presence of oxygen by the conversion of L-arginine via nitric oxide synthases (NOS) (2, 3). NO bioavailability can also be exogenously increased via entero-salivary reduction of oral inorganic nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) to nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub>-), with subsequent reduction to NO (4). This reaction is favored in conditions of low pH and reduced tissue pO<sub>2</sub>, such as exercise (5, 6). Increased NO bioavailability is purported to improve exercise performance via increased tissue blood flow, mitochondrial function, skeletal muscle calcium handling, and a reduction in the ATP cost of work (7–10). This has led to the widespread use of oral NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation as an ergogenic aid. However, the impact on oral NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation on exercise outcomes is equivocal, with results differing between samples of clinical patients compared to healthy participants (11) with the vast majority of data reported in males.

Despite initiatives by the National Institutes of Health to improve the inclusion of females in research, large sex disparities persist in studies examining the ergogenic effect of nitrate supplementation. A recent a meta-analysis indicated that only ~5% of trials studied female participants, while a further ~15% contained mixed sex groups and generally did not examine potential sex differences (11). The lack of female representation in these studies may be related to the difficulty in controlling for estradiol which is altered during the menstrual cycle. However, estrogen is known to increase bioavailable NO and could impact exercise outcomes (13).

Most studies recruiting female participants have either not controlled for the menstrual cycle or have opted to recruit exclusively during the early follicular (EF) phase when estrogen levels are at a nadir and are most similar to males (14, 15). This approach ignores a large component of female physiology and therefore, may be too restrictive for practical recommendations (16–18). During the late follicular phase of the menstrual cycle, when estradiol is elevated, there is increased endothelial NOS expression via multiple physiological pathways which can directly increase NO bioavailability (19–21). As such in a background of increased endogenous NO bioavailability during LF, supplementation via oral NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> may be less beneficial as an ergogenic aid than during EF.

Thus, the purpose of the present study was to examine the effect of oral  $NO_3^-$  supplementation on exercise economy and endurance capacity in healthy young females across the menstrual cycle. The primary hypothesis was that exercise economy and exercise capacity would be a) greater during the low estrogen EF phase when consuming the high  $NO_3^-$  beverage (EF+BRJ) when compared to EF+PL and LF+BRJ, and b) not impacted during the LF phase where consuming the high  $NO_3^-$  beverage may have limited impact due to the presence of elevated estrogen on endogenous NO.

#### 2. Methods:

#### 2.1. Experimental Design and Protocol

This study was a randomized, double-blind cross-over design (Figure 1, NCT04588740). Participants reported to the laboratory for initial screening and baseline exercise testing prior to randomization to either inorganic NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation in the form of beet root juice (BRJ) or placebo (PL) (See description under *Supplementation procedures*). Participants were tested during both the EF (1 – 3 days since menses onset) and LF phase (11 – 14 days since menses onset) of the menstrual cycle, as determined by self-report and with later confirmation by plasma estradiol measurements. All study visits were performed by the same researcher, at the same time of day ( $\pm$  1 hour), and under the same sensory conditions. Females were tested on two consecutive months allowing for a washout period between supplemental time-frames. Participants were recruited from the University of Virginia and surrounding Charlottesville, Virginia area. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Virginia and all participants provided written informed consent.

#### 2.2. Subjects

Subjects were included if they exercised  $\leq 3$  days/week for <u>less than</u> 30 minutes, were apparently healthy and not aerobically trained (i.e., VO<sub>2peak</sub>  $\leq 45$  mL/min/kg), normotensive (<120/80 mmHg), and had no orthopedic limitations to exercise testing. Subjects must have had regular menstrual periods (minimum of 10-12 menses per year) and could not be on any type of contraception with the exception of a monophasic oral contraceptive pill consistently for at least 6 months prior to the study.

Subjects were excluded if they had any known pulmonary, cardiovascular, or metabolic conditions or diseases, any food allergies, if they were taking any medications or supplements that could impact study outcomes in the last 6 months (i.e., pre-workout supplements, L-citrulline, L-arginine, etc.), if they used tobacco, had abnormal blood pressure, were currently or recently pregnant or lactating (< 1 year), or if they contracted Covid-19 during the experimental period.

#### 2.3. Screening visit

During the screening visit prior to exercise testing, anthropometric measurements and resting blood pressures were obtained for all subjects. These measurements were followed by an incremental exercise test on an electronically braked cycle ergometer (Lode Excalibur Sport, Groningen, The Netherlands). The exercise test consisted of a 2-minute warm up at an initial power output of 20 watts followed by 25-watt increases every 2 minutes until volitional exhaustion. Subjects were instructed to maintain a pedaling rate around 80±5 rpm. During all exercise bouts metabolic measures were obtained via standard open circuit spirometry (Vmax Encore metabolic cart, Carefusion, Yorba Linda, CA), heart rate (HR) was constantly

monitored with a HR chest strap linked to a Polar A300 watch, and rating of perceived exertion (RPE) (22) was collected. VO<sub>2peak</sub> was calculated as the highest 30 second average attained. Gas exchange threshold was determined by the V-Slope method (23). The power output associated with 75% of the GET (moderate intensity) and the power output corresponding the 70% of the difference between GET and peak power output (70%  $\Delta$  - severe intensity) were calculated for subsequent exercise testing.

#### 2.4. Supplementation Procedures

Subjects were assigned to consume 70mL of beet root juice (BRJ - ~6.5mmol NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) twice/day (~13mmol total NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) for ~3 days or an identical NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-depleted placebo (PL). On testing days, subjects were instructed to ingest the last two 70mL shots 2h prior to their laboratory arrival time while remaining otherwise fasted. Both supplements were provided by the same company to guarantee similar taste and appearance (Beet It Pro, James White Drinks, LTD). Subjects were given additional bottles and were instructed to start consuming the juice the day before the estimated day of menses to consider any changes in the start of the menstrual cycle and guarantee consumption of at least 3 days of supplementation before experimental visits. Between menstrual cycle phases (i.e., EF and LF phase), participants stopped supplementation until ~3 days prior to the next testing visit. Each participant was given a sufficient washout period between testing sessions, based on the time-course and half-life of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> (24–26).

#### 2.5. Experimental Procedure

During experimental visits, subjects underwent ~10min of supine rest prior to vascular assessments. First, as per manufacturer's instructions, Pulse Wave Analysis (PWA) was performed using a SphygmoCor Xcel system where an arm cuff was placed on the subjects' upper arm, aligning the designated markings with the brachial artery. The automated system then measured pulsations recorded at the brachial artery to produce central aortic pressure waveforms. Pulse wave velocity (PWV) was measured via a simultaneous comparison of the carotid pulse (via applanation tonometry) and the femoral pulse via a specialized thigh cuff.

After completion of the vascular tests, subjects completed two bouts of 2-minutes of cycle ergometer exercise at 20watts followed by 4-minutes at 75% GET (moderate-intensity). Each bout was separated by a 5 min passive recovery.

Upon completion of the two moderate-intensity exercise bouts and after an additional 5-minutes passive recovery, subjects performed an exercise bout at the power output set at 70%  $\Delta$  GET and VO<sub>2peak</sub> (severe intensity domain) until exhaustion. They were encouraged to pedal for as long as they could and were blinded to the time expired. When pedaling rate fell by >10rpm despite verbal encouragement by the

researchers the test was terminated and time to exhaustion (TTE) task recorded. Data from the two moderate-intensity bouts were averaged to improve signal-to-noise ratio.

#### 2.6. Blood sampling– Plasma N-oxides and estradiol

Prior the exercise test, blood was drawn from an antecubital vein into a NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> free syringe (BD Luer-Lok<sup>TM</sup>) (~5mL) for subsequent NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> analysis. Plasma NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> were assessed via ozonebased chemiluminescence using a Sievers NOA model 280i (GE Analytical Instruments, Boulder, CO, USA) as previously described (27). Briefly, plasma samples for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> analysis were deproteinized using cold ethanol precipitation in a 1:3 dilution (plasma:ethanol) followed by a 30-minute incubation before being centrifuged at 14,000g for 10-min. The supernatant was removed for the subsequent NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> analysis in the presence of vanadium chloride in hydrochloric acid at 95°C. The NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> of the undiluted (nondeproteinized) plasma samples was determined by its reduction to NO in the presence of glacial acetic acid and potassium iodide as previously explained(28). Estradiol was measured by RIA in the University of Virginia Center for Research in Reproduction Ligand Assay and Analysis Core using a commercial kit (MP Biomedicals; Orangeburg, NY; Cat #07-238102). Assay characteristics were as follows: sensitivity = 10 pg/ml; intra-assay CV = 6.5%; inter-assay CV = 9.2%.

#### 2.7. Statistical Analysis

A mixed-model analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's adjustments for multiple comparisons was used to determine differences between treatment (PL vs BRJ) and between menstrual cycle phases (EF vs LF) for VO<sub>2</sub>, HR, RPE, TTE (sec), and vascular measures. Paired T-Test was used to test differences in estradiol across menstrual cycle phases. For HR and RPE at several timepoints within the same TTE test (3-min, 5-min, and at exhaustion) a three-way ANOVA (Supplement\*Sex\*Timepoint) was used. All statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism Version 9.3 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA, www.graphpad.com). GraphPad Prism was also utilized for the creation of all graphs and figures. Biorender (www.biorender.com) was used to create the study design figure. Data are reported as mean  $\pm$  SD unless otherwise stated, with *p*<0.05 required for statistical significance.

#### 3. Results:

### 3.1. Participant Characteristics

Twelve young healthy females participated in the study (Table 1). Of those, the majority (n = 10) were not on any type of contraception, while the remainder (n = 2) were on a monophasic oral contraceptive.

#### 3.2. Plasma Estradiol, Nitrate, and Nitrite

Plasma estradiol was significantly elevated in the LF phase compared to the EF phase (p < 0.05; Table 1). Plasma NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was significantly different across treatments (p < 0.01; Figure 2A), menstrual cycle phases (p < 0.01), and an interaction effect was found revealing NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was significantly higher in the LF+BRJ condition (p < 0.05; Figure 2A). Plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> was significantly different across treatments (p < 0.01) but did not differ across menstrual cycle phases (p = 0.90) and no interaction effect was found (p = 0.45; Figure 2B.

#### 3.3. Vascular Measurements

Regardless of supplementation or menstrual cycle phase, there were no significant differences in resting HR, SBP, DBP, MAP, aortic SBP, aortic DBP, or PWV (Table 2).

#### 3.4. The Effect of Inorganic Nitrate on Oxygen Uptake During Moderate Intensity Exercise

Gross exercise economy (Figure 3) was not significantly different across the menstrual cycle phases (p = 0.42) or between treatments (p = 0.67), and no interaction effect was observed (p = 0.93). There were no significant differences in HR or RPE at during either the warm-up or the moderate-intensity exercise bout (Table 3).

#### 3.5. The Effect of Inorganic Nitrate on Time to Exhaustion Task in the Severe Domain

Time to exhaustion (Figure 4) was significantly decreased within for the BRJ treatment compared to PL ( $404 \pm 147 \text{ v } 444 \pm 166 \text{ sec}$ , respectively p < 0.05), with no significant differences between menstrual cycle phases (EF:  $415 \pm 148 \text{ sec}$ ; LF:  $433 \pm 165 \text{ sec}$ ; p = 0.34), and no interaction effect (p = 0.34). There were no statistical differences between conditions for VO<sub>2peak</sub>, HR, or RPE during the severe intensity exercise (Table 4).

#### 4. Discussion:

To our knowledge this is the first study to examine the effects of oral  $NO_3^-$  supplementation on exercise economy and exercise capacity in healthy young females across the eumenorrheic menstrual cycle. Our major findings were that there were no effects of either treatment (BRJ or PL) or MC phase (EF or LF) on exercise economy (Table 3; Figure 3), but a worsened exercise endurance capacity (TTE) during cycling at a "severe" intensity when consuming oral  $NO_3^-$  (Table 4, Figure 4). As expected, estradiol levels were significantly greater in the LF phase of the MC and participants significantly increased plasma nitrate and nitrite concentrations following supplementation. We hypothesized that  $NO_3^-$  supplementation may be less beneficial as an ergogenic aid during a background of higher estradiol, and hence higher bioavailable NO (29), during the LF phase of the MC. The present data suggest no exercise economy benefit of  $NO_3^-$  supplementation in healthy young females and a potential detrimental exercise capacity effect regardless of estradiol concentrations throughout the EF and LC phase of the MC. These data differ from previous reports in males that suggest that  $NO_3^-$  supplementation may improve exercise economy (7, 30, 31).

Previous research of exercise economy in females is limited with mixed results showing benefits in some studies (14, 15), but not others (32). A potential factor for these conflicting results is a lack of standardization or accommodation of the timing of exercise testing during the menstrual cycle. One study did not standardize testing by phase of the cycle (15), another tested during the luteal phase when progesterone is elevated and can blunt estrogen's binding to estrogen receptors (14), and the third study included females taking hormonal contraceptives who experience reduced estrogen fluctuations (32).

A further complication is the lack of standardization of nitrate dosage and workloads between studies. Wickham et al. administered double the dose of  $NO_3^-$  of the present study (~26 vs ~13 mmol/day, respectively) but showed no improvements in exercise economy at either 50% or 70% of  $VO_{2peak}$ . In contrast, Rienks and colleagues administered the same absolute daily  $NO_3^-$  dose as the present study in females of similar fitness. However, their subjects weighed 10kg more than the current group and as such had a lower relative dose, when adjusted for bodyweight. They saw improvements in exercise economy after supplementation at a 75W absolute power output. Our individualized workload based from GET averaged 46W (Table 2). Whether there is a dose response relationship with regard to supplementation and exercise economy cannot be addressed from the present study or previous data in the literature. We also explored whether  $NO_3^-$  supplementation impacts exercise economy differentially across the menstrual cycle. Our findings suggest that neither  $NO_3^-$  supplementation, phase of the menstrual cycle, impacts moderate intensity exercise economy in young healthy females.

An unexpected finding was that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation impaired endurance capacity in the severe domain in young healthy females (Figure 4). NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation has resulted in either improvements or a lack of change to TTE in studies testing predominantly male or mixed sex participants (33). In the present study TTE was reduced by 40 seconds (~9%) after BRJ supplementation, with no differences in VO<sub>2peak</sub>, HR, or RPE (Table 4). As mentioned previously, we had originally hypothesized that NO<sub>3</sub>supplementation may be less beneficial as an ergogenic aid during the LF phase as there is greater background of higher estradiol and likely greater endogenous NO at this timepoint. Although not statistically significant there was a 58 second reduction in TTE during the LF phase compared with 22 seconds in the EF phase. This could potentially represent a substantial effect on "real world" exercise performance at different times in the MC and is likely worthy of further exploration. It is unclear why  $NO_3^-$  supplementation worsened exercise performance in the females in the present study. It is possible that there is a dose response relationship between bioavailable NO and exercise performance. It is also possible that in young healthy females there is already adequate bioavailable NO and the addition of endogenous supplements creates a deleterious environment. To date, most research studies assigned an absolute dosage of  $NO_3^-$  often based on supplement packaging sizes. Perhaps adjusting for body mass and endogenous hormone concentrations may provide a more nuanced and beneficial approach. We have previously suggested that  $NO_3^-$  supplementation is likely more beneficial in participants with reduced or dysfunctional endogenous NO production such as patients with cardiovascular diseases (11).

Another interesting observation from the present study is that plasma  $NO_3^-$  was significantly greater when consumed as BRJ during the LF phase versus the EF phase, however, plasma  $NO_2^-$  increased similarly in both phases (Figure 2A and 2B). This could be related to a higher endogenous NO bioavailability during the LF phase when estradiol is highest (29) and perhaps a lower conversion rate from  $NO_3^-$  to  $NO_2^-$  by commensal bacteria in the mouth and gut at that menstrual cycle phase, although this was not explored here.

While  $NO_3^-$  has shown to improve measures of vascular health (34, 35), the participants included in this study did not experience improvements in blood pressure or PWV (Table 2). While this may indicate that neither the menstrual cycle nor  $NO_3^-$  supplementation would impact vascular health in females, the participants in this study were young and healthy, having good vascular responses at baseline. It is possible that benefits may be observed in females with impaired vascular health (e.g. postmenopausal females or those with resting hypertension).

#### Limitations:

There are a few limitations to this study. Testing during the menstrual cycle phases was completed based on self-reported timing, although this was confirmed with plasma estrogen samples run at the end of the study. Additionally, two of the twelve participants were on oral contraceptive pills which may have diminished the effects in the LF phase due to a lack of natural estrogen peak. There was no method to measure ovulation such as with transvaginal ultrasound, urinary ovulation testing, or measurement of progesterone to predict the luteinizing hormone surge for more accurate testing of the LF phase. It is possible that testing characterized here as the LF phase was not completed during the highest peak of estrogen.

Participants were not tested during the luteal phase of the MC when estrogen is generally higher than the EF phase, but lower than the LF phase, and when progesterone is elevated. As progesterone is known to block the actions of estrogen (36), and estrogen plays a role on NO bioavailability, the EF and
LF phases were specifically chosen for study here. It is possible based on the results of this study that the ability of progesterone to decrease the action of estrogen may result in different effects on exercise performance after  $NO_3^-$  supplementation. Finally, urinary, skeletal muscle and oral  $NO_3^-$  and  $NO_2^-$  concentrations were not measured in this study, so we are unable to fully account for potential changes in N-oxides in these compartments and if they are different across the menstrual cycle.

#### 5. Conclusions:

The present study indicates that  $NO_3^-$  supplementation did not affect exercise economy or vascular health and worsened aerobic endurance capacity (TTE) in young healthy females, regardless of MC phase. The possibility of an optimal dose response relationship to improve the aforementioned variables merits further investigation. In the interim, young healthy females should proceed with caution when considering supplementation with BRJ, particularly in light of equivocal findings at present and the cost of supplementation.

## Acknowledgements:

The University of Virginia Center for Research in Reproduction Ligand Assay and Analysis Core is supported by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver NICHD/NIH Grant R24HD102061.

#### 6. **References**:

- Farah C, Michel LYM, Balligand J-L. Nitric oxide signalling in cardiovascular health and disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* 15: 292–316, 2018. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.224.
- Palmer RMJ, Ashton DS, Moncada S. Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from Larginine. *Nature* 333: 664–666, 1988.
- Palmer RMJ, Ferrige AG, Moncada S. Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Nature* 327: 524–526, 1987. doi: 10.1038/327524a0.
- 4. **Lundberg JO**, **Weitzberg E**, **Gladwin MT**. The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 7: 156–167, 2008. doi: 10.1038/nrd2466.
- 5. **Bailey SJ, Gandra PG, Jones AM, Hogan MC, Nogueira L**. Incubation with Sodium Nitrite Attenuates Fatigue Development in Intact Single Mouse Fibres at Physiological PO2.
- Ferguson SK, Holdsworth CT, Wright JL, Fees AJ, Allen JD, Jones AM, Musch TI, Poole DC. Microvascular oxygen pressures in muscles comprised of different fiber types : Impact of dietary nitrate supplementation. *Nitric Oxide* 48: 38–43, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2014.09.157.
- Larsen FJ, Weitzberg E, Lundberg JO, Ekblom B. Effects of dietary nitrate on oxygen cost during exercise. *Acta Physiologica* 191: 59–66, 2007. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2007.01713.x.
- Larsen FJ, Schiffer TA, Borniquel S, Sahlin K, Ekblom B, Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E. Dietary inorganic nitrate improves mitochondrial efficiency in humans. *Cell Metabolism* 13: 149–159, 2011. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.01.004.
- Petrick HL, Brownell S, Vachon B, Brunetta HS, Handy RM, van Loon LJC, Murrant CL, Holloway GP. Dietary nitrate increases submaximal SERCA activity and ADP-transfer to mitochondria in slow-twitch muscle of female mice.
- Hernández A, Schiffer TA, Ivarsson N, Cheng AJ, Bruton JD, Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Westerblad H. Dietary nitrate increases tetanic [Ca 2+] i and contractile force in mouse fast-twitch muscle. *Journal of Physiology* 590: 3575–3583, 2012. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.232777.

- Woessner MN, McIlvenna LC, Ortiz de Zevallos J, Neil CJ, Allen JD. Dietary nitrate supplementation in cardiovascular health: An ergogenic aid or exercise therapeutic? *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 314: H195–H212, 2018. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00414.2017.
- Senefeld JW, Wiggins CC, Regimbal RJ, Dominelli PB, Baker SE, Joyner MJ. Ergogenic Effect of Nitrate Supplementation: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 52: 2250–2261, 2020. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002363.
- McNulty KL, Elliott-Sale KJ, Dolan E, Swinton PA, Ansdell P, Goodall S, Thomas K, Hicks KM. The Effects of Menstrual Cycle Phase on Exercise Performance in Eumenorrheic Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports Medicine*, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s40279-020-01319-3.
- Bond V, Curry BH, Adams RG, Millis RM, Haddad GE. Cardiorespiratory function associated with dietary nitrate supplementation. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* 39: 168–172, 2014. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0263.
- Rienks JN, Vanderwoude AA, Maas E, Blea ZM, Subudhi AW. Effect of Beetroot Juice on Moderate-Intensity Exercise at a Constant Rating of Perceived Exertion. *International journal of exercise science* 8: 277–286, 2015.
- Stachenfeld NS, Taylor HS. Challenges and methodology for testing young healthy women in physiological studies. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 306: E849– E853, 2014. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00038.2014.
- Janse De Jonge X, Thompson B, Han A. Methodological Recommendations for Menstrual Cycle Research in Sports and Exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 51: 2610–2617, 2019. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002073.
- 18. Elliott-Sale KJ, Minahan CL, Janse de Jonge XAK, Ackerman KE, Sipilä S, Constantini NW, Lebrun CM, Hackney AC. Methodological Considerations for Studies in Sport and Exercise Science with Women as Participants : A Working Guide for Standards of Practice for Research on Women. *Sports Medicine*, 2021. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01435-8.

- Sumi D, Ignarro LJ. Estrogen-related receptor alpha1 up-regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression. *PNAS* 100: 14451–14456, 2003.
- Chambliss KL, Shaul PW. Estrogen Modulation of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase. *Endocrine Reviews* 23: 665–686, 2002. doi: 10.1210/er.2001-0045.
- Hisamoto K, Ohmichi M, Kurachi H, Hayakawa J, Kanda Y, Nishio Y, Adachi K, Tasaka K, Miyoshi E, Fujiwara N, Taniguchi N, Murata Y. Estrogen Induces the Akt-dependent Activation of Endothelial Nitric-oxide Synthase in Vascular Endothelial Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276: 3459–3467, 2001. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M005036200.
- 22. Borg G. Perceived exertion as an indicator of somatic stress. Scand J Rehabil Med 2: 92–98, 1970.
- 23. **Beaver WL**, **Wasserman K**, **Whipp BJ**. A new method for detecting anaerobic threshold by gas exchange. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 60: 2020–2027, 1986. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1986.60.6.2020.
- James PE, Willis GR, Allen JD, Winyard PG, Jones AM. Nitrate pharmacokinetics: Taking note of the difference. *Nitric Oxide Biology and Chemistry* 48: 44–50, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2015.04.006.
- 25. Coggan AR, Racette SB, Thies D, Peterson LR, Stratford RE. Simultaneous Pharmacokinetic Analysis of Nitrate and its Reduced Metabolite, Nitrite, Following Ingestion of Inorganic Nitrate in a Mixed Patient Population. *Pharmaceutical Research* 37, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s11095-020-02959-w.
- Jakubcik EM, Rutherfurd-markwick K, Chabert M, Wong M, Ali A. Pharmacokinetics of Nitrate and Nitrite Following Beetroot Juice Drink Consumption. *Nutrients* 13, 2021.
- Pinder AG, Rogers SC, Khalatbari A, Ingram TE, James PE. The Measurement of Nitric Oxide and Its Metabolites in Biological Samples by Ozone-Based Chemiluminescence. *Redox-Mediated Signal Transduction (Methods and Protocols)* 476: 10–27, 2008.
- Kenjale AA, Ham KL, Stabler T, Robbins JL, Johnson JL, VanBruggen M, Privette G, Yim E, Kraus WE, Allen JD. Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances exercise performance in peripheral arterial disease. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 110: 1582–1591, 2011. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00071.2011.

- Cicinelli E, Ignarro LJ, Lograno M, Galantino P, Balzano G, Schonauer LM. Circulating levels of nitric oxide in fertile women in relation to the menstrual cycle. *Fertility and Sterility* 66: 1036– 1038, 1996. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(16)58706-8.
- 30. Carriker CR, Vaughan RA, VanDusseldorp TA, Johnson KE, Beltz NM, McCormick JJ, Cole NH, Gibson AL. Nitrate-Containing Beetroot Juice Reduces Oxygen Consumption During Submaximal Exercise in Low but Not High Aerobically Fit Male Runners. *Journal of Exercise Nutrition & Biochemistry* 20: 27–34, 2016. doi: 10.20463/jenb.2016.0029.
- 31. Porcelli S, Ramaglia M, Bellistri G, Pavei G, Pugliese L, Montorsi M, Rasica L, Marzorati M. Aerobic fitness affects the exercise performance responses to nitrate supplementation. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 47: 1643–1651, 2015. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000000577.
- 32. Wickham KA, McCarthy DG, Pereira JM, Cervone DT, Verdijk LB, van Loon LJC, Power GA, Spriet LL. No effect of beetroot juice supplementation on exercise economy and performance in recreationally active females despite increased torque production. *Physiological Reports* 7: 1–14, 2019. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13982.
- 33. McMahon NF, Leveritt MD, Pavey TG. The Effect of Dietary Nitrate Supplementation on Endurance Exercise Performance in Healthy Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Med 47: 735–756, 2017. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0617-7.
- 34. Jackson JK, Patterson AJ, MacDonald-Wicks LK, Oldmeadow C, McEvoy MA. The role of inorganic nitrate and nitrite in cardiovascular disease risk factors: a systematic review and metaanalysis of human evidence. *Nutrition Reviews* 76: 348–371, 2018. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuy005.
- 35. Bahrami LS, Arabi SM, Feizy Z, Rezvani R. The effect of beetroot inorganic nitrate supplementation on cardiovascular risk factors: A systematic review and meta-regression of randomized controlled trials | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. *Nitric Oxide* 115: 8–22, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2021.06.002.
- Hsueh AJW, Peck EJ, Clark JH. Progesterone antagonism of the oestrogen receptor and oestrogen-induced uterine growth. *Nature* 254: 337–339, 1975. doi: 10.1038/254337a0.





Variable	$Mean \pm SD$
Ν	12
Age	$23.4\pm3.5$
Height (m)	$1.60\pm8.1$
Weight (kg)	$61.4\pm7.4$
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$24.2\pm3.5$
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg/min)	$34.4\pm5.9$
Peak Power Output (watts)	$157.1\pm42.7$
EF Estradiol (pmol/L)	$185\pm71$
LF Estradiol (pmol/L)	$242\pm107*$

**Table 1: Participant Characteristics** 

BMI – Body Mass Index. EF – Early follicular phase. LF – Late follicular phase. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. \* p $\leq$ 0.05 compared to EF Estradiol.

**Figure 2:** N-oxides across the menstrual cycle phases and following supplementation. *Figure Legend*: Absolute values for (A) plasma nitrate and (B) plasma nitrite. Values are mean  $\pm$  SD. \* significant difference compared to EF (p < 0.05). \*\*\*\* significant difference compared to PL (p < 0.01).



11/lousures								
	Placebo		Nit	Nitrate		р		
	EF	LF	EF	LF	Phase	Treatment	P x T	
SBP (mmHg)	$110\pm8$	$107 \pm 7$	$109\pm4$	$108\pm8$	.26	.71	.43	
DBP (mmHg)	$66 \pm 9$	$66 \pm 5$	$66\pm 6$	$66 \pm 9$	.99	.69	.94	
MAP (mmHg)	$78\pm9$	$78\pm8$	$78\pm 6$	$79\pm9$	.73	.96	.59	
Aortic SBP (mmHg)	$96 \pm 9$	$95\pm7$	$96\pm5$	$96 \pm 10$	.79	.99	.35	
Aortic DBP (mmHg)	$68\pm9$	$66 \pm 5$	$67\pm 6$	$67\pm9$	.90	.35	.81	
PWV (m/s)	$4.4\pm0.6$	$4.5\pm0.8$	$4.6\pm0.7$	$4.7\pm0.8$	.69	.21	.95	

**Table 2**: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate or Placebo and Menstrual Cycle Phase on Cardiovascular Measures

SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; MAP, Mean arterial pressure; EF, Early follicular; LF, Late follicular; PWV, pulse wave velocity; P x T, Interaction effect. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. n = 12.





	Placebo		Nit	Nitrate		р		
	EF	LF	EF	LF	Phase	Treatment	P x T	
Warm-Up $(20 \pm 0 \text{ Watts})$								
$VO_2$ (mL.min <sup>-1</sup> )	$723\pm95$	$742 \pm 133$	$757 \pm 118$	$705 \pm 113$	.34	.93	.06	
Heart Rate (bpm)	$103\pm15$	$103\pm16$	$105\pm19$	$104\pm19$	.52	.69	.80	
RPE	$8 \pm 1$	$8 \pm 1$	$8 \pm 1$	$8 \pm 1$	.48	.30	.30	
Moderate-Intensity (46 ± 25 Watts)								
$VO_2$ (mL.min <sup>-1</sup> )	$1011 \pm 195$	$994\pm244$	$1018\pm238$	$1004\pm208$	.42	.67	.93	
Heart Rate (bpm)	$126\pm21$	$126\pm22$	$128\pm23$	$124\pm23$	.33	.88	.41	
RPE	$10 \pm 1$	$10\pm2$	$10\pm2$	$10 \pm 1$	.73	.76	.64	

Table 3: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate or Placebo and Menstrual Cycle Phase During Submaximal Exercise

VO<sub>2</sub>, oxygen uptake; EF, Early follicular; LF, Late follicular; P x T, Interaction effect. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. n = 11 or 12.

**Figure 4:** Effects of  $NO_3^-$  and the menstrual cycle on change in time to exhaustion (TTE) during the severe-intensity exercise.

*Figure Legend*: \* = (p < 0.05) for treatment effect (BRJ vs PL)



	Placebo		Nitrate		p		
	EF	LF	EF	LF	Phase	Treatment	P x T
Heart Rate							
3 min (bpm)	$170\pm13$	$169\pm12$	$170\pm14$	$170\pm12$	.72	.86	.89
5 min (bpm)	$177\pm12$	$174\pm10$	$180\pm14$	$179 \pm 11$	.33	.27	.29
Peak (bpm)	$181 \pm 11$	$180\pm11$	$181 \pm 12$	$183\pm10$	.63	.36	.09
RPE							
3 min	$15 \pm 2$	$15 \pm 2$	$15 \pm 2$	$15 \pm 2$	.21	.99	.99
5 min	$17 \pm 1$	$17 \pm 2$	$17 \pm 2$	$16 \pm 2$	.15	.32	.88
Failure	$19 \pm 1$	$19\pm1$	$18 \pm 1$	$19\pm1$	.95	.06	.93
Exhaustion							
VO <sub>2</sub> (mL.min <sup>-1</sup> )	$2085\pm521$	$2089 \pm 485$	$2064 \pm 495$	$2089 \pm 450$	.72	.76	.75
TTE (s)	$426 \pm 142$	$462\pm189$	$404\pm153$	$404\pm140$	.34	.04	.34

 Table 4: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate or Placebo and Menstrual Cycle Phase During Severe Intensity Exercise

EF, Early follicular; LF, Late follicular; TTE, Time to exhaustion; RPE, Rating of perceived exertion; P x T, Interaction effect. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. n = 11-12. Power output:  $132 \pm 35$  Watts

## **Graphical Abstract**



## Manuscript 2:

# The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate Supplementation on Muscular Power and Endurance Across the Menstrual Cycle

Austin C. Hogwood<sup>1</sup>, Joaquin Ortiz De Zevallos<sup>1</sup>, Ka'eo Kruse<sup>1</sup>, Meredith Buckley<sup>1</sup>, Jeison DeGuzman<sup>1</sup>, Alexandra DeJong-Lempke<sup>2</sup>, Arthur Weltman<sup>1,3</sup>, Jason D. Allen<sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Kinesiology, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA.

<sup>2</sup> School of Kinesiology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Medicine, University of Virginia School of Medicine, Charlottesville, VA, USA, 22904

## Abstract

Supplementation with oral inorganic nitrate ( $NO_3^{-}$ ) increases nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability. Studies have shown that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> improves muscular power in males and females, although data in females are limited. Estrogen improves NO and fluctuates throughout the menstrual cycle (MC), ranging from low levels in the early follicular (EF) phase and peaking during the late follicular (LF) phase. This study examined the effects of  $NO_3^-$  supplementation on isokinetic peak power, maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) force, muscular endurance, and recovery from fatigue in healthy young females across the MC. Twelve females with eumenorrheic MC were tested in a double-blinded, randomized design. Participants consumed  $\sim 13$  mmol NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, in the form of 140ml beetroot juice (BRJ) or an identical NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-depleted placebo (PL) for ~3 days prior to lab visits and 2 hours prior to testing on lab visits. Plasma nitrate, nitrite, and estradiol were assessed. As expected, plasma estradiol was elevated in the LF phase, and plasma nitrite and nitrate were elevated in the BRJ condition. Isokinetic peak power was worsened by NO3supplementation (p = 0.02), and there was velocity x treatment interaction (p < 0.01). Multiple comparisons revealed power at maximal knee extensor power (Pmax) to be significantly worse in the LF+BRJ condition compared to the EF+PL condition (p = 0.04). Maximal knee extensor velocity (Vmax) was also worsened by NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (p = 0.03). Muscular endurance, MVIC, and fatigue recovery was unaltered by BRJ or the MC (all p > 0.05). In conclusion, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation worsened maximal knee extensor power and velocity without impacting muscular endurance, MVIC, or fatigue recovery. Further, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation during the LF phase of the MC worsened peak power compared to EF+PL, suggesting that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> may interact with estrogen fluctuations in the MC. For young healthy eumenorrheic females, it may be unwise to supplement with oral NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> if the goal is to augment muscular performance.

## 1. Introduction

Nitric oxide (NO) is a gaseous molecule known to play a role in various aspects of human physiology including exercise (1, 2). While NO is endogenously synthesized from NO synthase (NOS) enzymes (3, 4), an exogenous avenue to increase NO bioavailability known as the enterosalivary pathway or the nitrate-nitrite-NO pathway has been increasingly utilized for enhancing exercise performance (5). In this pathway, oral consumption of inorganic nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) can be reduced to form nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) by oral bacteria, and subsequently reduced to NO (6). Conversion of NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> to NO is facilitated in acidic and hypoxic situations such as during exercise economy (10–13), time-to-exhaustion (10), and muscular contractions (11, 14–17), findings which are likely dependent on improvements in tissue perfusion (9), ATP turnover (11) and calcium handling (7, 18). Despite this, evidence of the potential impact of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation on muscular force production in humans is scarce and equivocal (19–21), with some results suggesting an enhanced effect in females over males (22).

Reproductive age eumenorrheic females experience cyclic fluctuations in hormones throughout the menstrual cycle, characterized by fluctuations in estrogen (23). In normally menstruating women, estrogen is lowest at the time of menses during the early follicular (EF) phase and tends to peak ~10-14 days later during the late follicular (LF) phase. Estrogen has shown to improve nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability (6, 24–30), possibly explaining differences in exercise performance across the menstrual cycle (31). Despite known effects of the menstrual cycle on NO bioavailability and exercise performance, few studies measure females and those that do oftentimes only examine responses during the EF phase in an attempt to control for estrogen fluctuations (32). This gap in our understanding of the totality of the female physiology minimizes the practical translation of research findings. Understanding the relationship between the potential impact of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation across the menstrual cycle phases in females may reveal important precision strategies for improving exercise performance.

Thus, to the purpose of this study was to explore differences in the effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation on maximal force, muscular endurance, and recovery from fatigue in females across the follicular phase of menstrual cycle. The primary hypothesis was that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation would improve muscular strength, endurance, and recovery only during the EF

phase when estrogen and NO are lowest, and that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation will have a limited affect during the LF phase of the menstrual cycle when estrogen and NO are already elevated.

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Experimental Design and Protocol

This study was a randomized, double-blind cross-over design (NCT04588740). Participants reported to the laboratory for initial screening and baseline exercise testing prior to randomization to either inorganic NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation in the form of beet root juice (BRJ) or placebo (PL) (See description under *Supplementation procedures*). Participants were tested during both the EF (1 – 3 days since menses onset) and LF phase (11 – 14 days since menses onset) of the menstrual cycle, as determined by self-report with later confirmation by plasma estradiol measurements. All study visits were performed by the same researcher, at the same time of day ( $\pm$  1 hour), and under the same sensory conditions. Females were tested on two consecutive months allowing for a washout period between supplemental time-frames. Participants were recruited from the University of Virginia and surrounding Charlottesville, Virginia area. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Virginia. All subjects provided written informed consent.

## 2.2. Participants

Subjects were included if they exercised  $\leq 3$  days/week for less than 30 minutes, were apparently healthy and not aerobically trained (i.e., VO<sub>2peak</sub>  $\leq 45$  mL/min/kg), normotensive (<120/80 mmHg), and had no orthopedic limitations to exercise testing. Subjects must have had regular menstrual periods (minimum of 10-12 menses per year) and were not on any type of contraception with the exception of a monophasic oral contraceptive pill consistently for at least 6 months prior to the study.

Subjects were excluded if they had any known pulmonary, cardiovascular, or metabolic conditions or diseases, any food allergies, if they were taking any medications or supplements that could impact study outcomes in the last 6 months (i.e., pre-workout supplements, L-citrulline, L-arginine, etc.), if they used tobacco, had abnormal blood pressure, were currently or recently pregnant or lactating (< 1 year), or if they contracted Covid-19 during the experimental period.

## 2.3. Supplementation Procedures

Subjects were assigned to consume 70mL of beet root juice (BRJ - ~6.5mmol NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) in the morning and at night (~13mmol total NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) for ~3 days or an identical NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-depleted placebo (PL). On testing days, subjects were instructed to ingest two 70mL beverages 2h prior to their laboratory arrival time while remaining otherwise fasted. Both supplements were provided by the same company to guarantee similar taste and appearance (Beet It Pro, James White Drinks, LTD). Subjects were given additional bottles and were instructed to start consuming the juice the day before the estimated day of menses to consider any changes in the start of the menstrual cycle and guarantee consumption of at least 3 days of supplementation before experimental visits. Between menstrual cycle phases (i.e., EF and LF phase), participants stopped supplementation until ~3 days prior to the next testing visit. Each participant was given a sufficient washout period between testing sessions, based on the time-course and half-life of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> (33–35).

## 2.4. Experimental Procedure

Prior to all experimental visits and supplementation, a full familiarization visit was completed. All testing was performed on the dominant leg (right leg for all participants) of each individual using a multimodal dynamometer (Model System 3; Biodex Medical Systems Inc, Shirley, NY) as described previously (36). Briefly, subjects sat upright with the right knee at 90° flexion for calibration and a correction for limb weight was used. All positioning settings were noted and repeated for each study visit. The dynamometer was adjusted to place the axis of rotation of the lever arm alongside the lateral femoral epicondyle. To limit undesired muscular contraction, a strap was secured across the hips throughout testing, and participants crossed their arms across their chest. The experimental protocol consisted of four separate testing protocols [i. Isokinetic peak power, ii. Pre-fatigue-protocol maximal voluntary isometric contraction (Pre-MVIC), iii. Fatigue-protocol, iv. Post-fatigue-protocol MVIC (Post-MVIC)] in succession and explained below (Figure 1).

## i. Isokinetic peak power

During the isokinetic peak power protocol, participants were instructed to "kick out and pull back as hard and fast as possible" for 10 repetitions, across three different isokinetic angular velocities (180, 270, and 360°/s), each separated by 30 second rest (36) (Figure 1A). Participants were given real-time visual feedback and verbal encouragement was given to ensure maximal

effort. Isokinetic peak power (W/kg) was calculated via native Biodex Advantage software. The highest power generated at each velocity was plotted to obtain a power-velocity relationship which was then fitted to a 2nd-order polynomial as previously described (14, 15, 37). The polynomial function allowed for estimation of maximal knee extensor velocity (Vmax), as well as maximal knee extensor power (Pmax).

## *ii. Pre-fatigue-protocol maximal voluntary isometric contraction (Pre-MVIC)*

Following a 5-minute rest subjects were instructed to perform maximal isometric knee extension contractions with range of motion locked at 90° (Figure 1B). Participants were instructed to perform at least three MVIC's (until a clear peak was obtained), with 1-minute rest between each, and the highest value was recorded and compared across study visits.

## iii. Fatigue-protocol

Participants were given another 5-minute rest prior to starting the fatigue protocol. The fatigue-protocol consisted of performing 3-second isometric contractions set to 60% of the pre-MVIC force from the first familiarization visit (prior to any supplementation) (Figure 1B). This was repeated consecutively with 2-second rest in between each repetition (i.e., 12 repetitions/minute with 3 seconds of contraction and 2 seconds of rest). Participants were instructed to perform this protocol until failure and both visual feedback and verbal encouragement were provided to ensure the 60% MVIC goal was met each repetition. When participants could no longer maintain the 60% MVIC (as determined by three failed repetitions, with a failed repetition determined when <50% of the assigned workload was met), the exercise was stopped, and time-to-exhaustion (TTE) was recorded as the measure of muscular endurance.

## *iv. Post-fatigue-protocol MVIC (Post-MVIC)*

After exhaustion, a 1-minute rest was allotted before participants finally performed three separate Post-MVIC's each separated by 1 minute rest to determine recovery from fatigue (Figure 1B).

## 2.5. Blood sampling– Plasma N-oxides and estradiol

Prior the exercise test, blood was drawn from an antecubital vein into a NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> free syringe (BD Luer-Lok<sup>TM</sup>) for subsequent NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> analysis. Plasma NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> were assessed via ozone-based chemiluminescence using a Sievers NOA model 280i (GE Analytical Instruments, Boulder, CO, USA) as previously described (38). Briefly, plasma samples for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> analysis were

deproteinized using cold ethanol precipitation in a 1:3 dilution (plasma:ethanol) followed by a 30minute incubation before being centrifuged at 14,000g for 10-min. The supernatant was removed for the subsequent  $NO_3^-$  analysis in the presence of vanadium chloride in hydrochloric acid at 95°C. The  $NO_2^-$  of the undiluted (non-deproteinized) plasma samples was determined by its reduction to NO in the presence of glacial acetic acid and potassium iodide as previously explained (39). Estradiol was measured by RIA in the University of Virginia Center for Research in Reproduction Ligand Assay and Analysis Core using a commercial kit (MP Biomedicals; Orangeburg, NY; Cat #07-238102).Assay characteristics were as follows: sensitivity = 10 pg/ml; intra-assay CV = 6.5%; inter-assay CV = 9.2%.

## 2.6. Statistical Analysis

Peak power and MVIC over time were analyzed using three-way mixed linear models (Menstrual Cycle x Treatment x Velocity or Timepoint, respectively). Paired T-Test was used to test differences in estradiol across menstrual cycle phases. All other outcome measures were analyzed via 2-way (Treatment x Menstrual Cycle) analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's adjustments for multiple comparisons. All statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism Version 9.3 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Data are reported as mean  $\pm$  SD, and statistical significance was determined *a priori* at *p* < 0.05.

#### 3. Results

## 3.1. Participant Characteristics

Twelve young healthy females participated in the study (Table 1). Of those, the majority (n = 10) were not on any type of oral contraception, while the remainder (n = 2) were on a monophasic oral contraceptive pill.

#### 3.2. Plasma estradiol and N-oxides

Plasma estradiol was significantly elevated in the LF phase compared to the EF phase (p < 0.05; Table 1). Plasma NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was significantly different across treatments (p < 0.01; Table 2), menstrual cycle phases (p < 0.01), and an interaction effect was found revealing NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was significantly higher in the LF+BRJ condition compared to the EF+BRJ condition (p < 0.05; Table

2). Plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> was significantly different across treatments (p < 0.01) but did not differ across menstrual cycle phases (p = 0.90) and no interaction effect was found (p = 0.45; Table 2).

#### 3.3. Skeletal Muscle Contractile Function

Isokinetic peak power (Figure 2) was significantly different across angular velocities (p < 0.01), and treatments (p = 0.02), but not across menstrual cycle phases (p = 0.39). There was a velocity x treatment interaction (p < 0.01). Subsequent multiple comparisons revealed Pmax to be significantly worse in the LF+BRJ condition compared to the EF+PL condition (p = 0.04). Vmax (Figure 3) was significantly higher in the PL treatment compared to the BRJ treatment (p = 0.03) with no differences between menstrual cycle phases (p = 0.86) or any interaction effects (p = 0.81).

### 3.4. Skeletal Muscle Endurance Capacity

Muscular endurance (Figure 4) as determined by TTE during the fatigue protocol was not different between treatments (p = 0.69) or menstrual cycle phases (p = 0.12), and there were no interaction effects (p = 0.46).

## 3.5. Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contractions Before and After Fatigue

Figure 5 shows MVIC's before, and 1-, 2-, and 3-min post-fatigue protocol. Pre-MVIC showed no significant differences between treatment (p = 0.37), MC phase (p = 0.84), or any interactions (p = 0.84). MVIC's did not differ between treatments (p = 0.52) or menstrual cycle phases (p = 0.86) but did differ across time (p < 0.001) with each timepoint different from one another (all p < 0.001). There were no significant interactions between treatment and menstrual cycle (p = 0.28), treatment and time (p = 0.52), or time and menstrual cycle (p = 0.84), and there was no 3-way interaction (all p = 0.65).

## 4. Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the effects of  $NO_3^-$  supplementation on muscular power or endurance in females across the menstrual cycle. The major findings of this study are that isokinetic peak power (Figure 2) and Vmax (Figure 3) were significantly worsened by  $NO_3^-$  supplementation in females, and that this negative effect is more pronounced in the LF phase of the menstrual cycle (Figure 3) when relative plasma estradiol concentrations are at their highest. The present study also showed that neither NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation nor the menstrual cycle had any impact on muscular endurance capacity during an intermittent isometric leg fatigue protocol (Figure 4), or maximal voluntary isometric force production either before, or 1-, 2-, or 3-minutes post-fatigue protocol (Figure 5). These findings were contradictory to our hypothesis that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation would improve exercise performance in females in the EF phase, but not during the LF phase when endogenous estrogen is already elevated.

NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation has been suggested to improve muscular performance (21), and previous studies in isokinetic testing showed an improvement in power at faster angular velocities (i.e.,  $360^{\circ}$ /s) and at Pmax after NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (14, 15). Despite this, equivocal effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation on muscular performance exist (19, 20), and only one study compared sex differences in isokinetic power and suggested that females are more likely to benefit from NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation than males (22). This study consisted of a heterogenous group of middle-aged adults (13 males 7 females, age 47 ± 20 yrs) and did not control for the menstrual cycle or report menopause status. A second study employing electrically stimulated plantar flexor muscles showed no difference in peak torque or MVC after NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation in females (40). This study did not control for the menstrual cycle, and all females included were taking hormonal contraceptives.

Our data show that Pmax (Figure 2) and Vmax (Figure 3) (15, 22, 41), was worsened after NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation. This was driven by differences in EF+PL compared to LF+BRJ (p = 0.04). These data are the first to show that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation may worsen muscular performance in females, and that the elevated estrogen in the LF phase of the menstrual cycle may contribute to detrimental effect on muscular performance.

Another finding of this study was that neither  $NO_3^-$  supplementation nor the menstrual cycle influenced muscular endurance (TTE) during a fatiguing, intermittent isometric exercise protocol (Figure 4).  $NO_3^-$  supplementation has shown to improve isometric muscular endurance in some studies (42, 43), however, to our knowledge this has only been tested in males. As the reduction of  $NO_2^-$  to NO is facilitated in hypoxia (44) and  $NO_3^-$  supplementation may only improve contractile force in fast-twitch muscle fibers (18), it is possible that a less hypoxic exercising tissue in females (who have higher concentrations of fatigue-resistant type I skeletal muscle fibers (45)) could be associated with a more limited reduction of  $NO_2^-$  to NO and thus decreasing the beneficial effects of  $NO_3^-$  supplementation. Indeed, the improved ATP cost of exercise and improved phosphocreatine and oxygen kinetics after  $NO_3^-$  supplementation has only been studied in males (11, 46), and thus it is unknown if these same ATP-sparing and metabolic benefits persist in females.

This study also showed that neither NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation nor the menstrual cycle phase impacted MVIC either prior to, or following, a muscular fatiguing protocol (Figure 5). While data suggest either a lack of benefit or small improvement of MVIC with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (19), the findings here confirm the work of Wickham et al. who showed no difference in MVC with electrical muscle stimulation in females (40). While fatigue-recovery as determined by postfatigue MVIC has shown to be improved with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation in males (47), our data show that this may not be the case in females nor across the menstrual cycle.

It is unknown why  $NO_3^-$  supplementation alone, and when supplemented in the LF phase of the menstrual cycle in particular, may result in worsened muscular performance. It is possible that the combination of elevated endogenous NO from higher estrogen paired with elevated exogenous NO from  $NO_3^-$  supplementation may depress contractile function. An excess of NO may result in an environment that is harmful to muscular performance, and this effect may be dependent on the fiber type characteristics of the exercising skeletal muscle (48–50).

### Limitations:

There are a few limitations to this study. Testing during the menstrual cycle phases was completed based on self-reported timing, although this was confirmed with plasma estrogen samples run at the end of the study. Additionally, two of the twelve participants were on oral contraceptive pills which may have diminished the effects in the LF phase due to a lack of natural estrogen peak. There was no method to measure ovulation such as with transvaginal ultrasound, urinary ovulation testing, or measurement of progesterone to predict the luteinizing hormone surge for more accurate testing of the LF phase. It is possible that testing characterized here as the LF phase was not completed during the highest peak of estrogen.

Participants were not tested during the luteal phase of the MC when estrogen is generally higher than the EF phase, but lower than the LF phase, and when progesterone is elevated. As progesterone is known to block the actions of estrogen (51), and estrogen plays a role on NO bioavailability, the EF and LF phases were specifically chosen for study here. It is possible that

the ability of progesterone to decrease the action of estrogen may result in different effects on exercise performance after  $NO_3^-$  supplementation during the luteal phase. Finally, urinary, skeletal muscle and oral  $NO_3^-$  and  $NO_2^-$  concentrations were not measured in this study, so we are unable to fully account for potential changes in N-oxides in these compartments and if they are different across the menstrual cycle.

## 5. Conclusion

The present study shows for the first time that  $NO_3^-$  supplementation did not impact muscular endurance or fatigue-recovery, but impaired Pmax and Vmax in young females, and that these negative effects are exacerbated in the LF phase of the menstrual cycle. Any improvements of exercise performance that have been seen with  $NO_3^-$  supplementation may be related to the lower basal NO found in males and higher proportion of fast-twitch skeletal fibers. Studying females across different phases of the menstrual cycle has revealed a potential sexual dimorphism and interactive effect of sex hormones in this relationship. This data suggests that for young healthy eumenorrheic females, it may be unwise to supplement with oral  $NO_3^-$  if the goal is to augment muscular performance.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The University of Virginia Center for Research in Reproduction Ligand Assay and Analysis Core is supported by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver NICHD/NIH Grant R24HD102061.

## 6. References

- Bailey SJ, Jones AM. Nitric Oxide Biochemistry and Exercise Performance in Humans. In: Oxidative Eustress in Exercise Physiology. CRC Press, p. 137–151.
- 2. **Murad F**. Discovery of Some of the Biological Effects of Nitric Oxide and its Role in Cell Signaling. *Bioscience Reports* 24: 452–474, 2004. doi: 10.1007/s10540-005-2741-8.
- Palmer RMJ, Ashton DS, Moncada S. Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine. *Nature* 333: 664–666, 1988.
- Palmer RMJ, Ferrige AG, Moncada S. Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Nature* 327: 524–526, 1987. doi: 10.1038/327524a0.
- Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Gladwin MT. The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 7: 156–167, 2008. doi: 10.1038/nrd2466.
- Kapil V, Rathod KS, Khambata RS, Bahra M, Velmurugan S, Purba A, S. Watson D, Barnes MR, Wade WG, Ahluwalia A. Sex differences in the nitrate-nitrite-NO • pathway: Role of oral nitrate-reducing bacteria. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 126: 113–121, 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.07.010.
- 7. **Bailey SJ, Gandra PG, Jones AM, Hogan MC, Nogueira L**. Incubation with Sodium Nitrite Attenuates Fatigue Development in Intact Single Mouse Fibres at Physiological PO2.
- Ferguson SK, Hirai DM, Copp SW, Holdsworth CT, Allen JD, Jones AM, Musch TI, Poole
   DC. Impact of dietary nitrate supplementation via beetroot juice on exercising muscle
   vascular control in rats. *J Physiol* 591: 547–557, 2013. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.243121.

- Ferguson SK, Holdsworth CT, Wright JL, Fees AJ, Allen JD, Jones AM, Musch TI, Poole DC. Microvascular oxygen pressures in muscles comprised of different fiber types : Impact of dietary nitrate supplementation. *Nitric Oxide* 48: 38–43, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2014.09.157.
- Bailey SJ, Winyard P, Vanhatalo A, Blackwell JR, DiMenna FJ, Wilkerson DP, Tarr J,
   Benjamin N, Jones AM. Dietary nitrate supplementation reduces the O2 cost of lowintensity exercise and enhances tolerance to high-intensity exercise in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 107: 1144–1155, 2009. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00722.2009.
- Bailey SJ, Fulford J, Vanhatalo A, Winyard PG, Blackwell JR, DiMenna FJ, Wilkerson DP, Benjamin N, Jones AM. Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances muscle contractile efficiency during knee-extensor exercise in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 109: 135–148, 2010. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00046.2010.
- Lansley KE, Winyard PG, Fulford J, Vanhatalo A, Bailey SJ, Blackwell JR, DiMenna FJ,
   Gilchrist M, Benjamin N, Jones AM. Dietary nitrate supplementation reduces the O2 cost of walking and running: A placebo-controlled study. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 110: 591–600, 2011. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01070.2010.
- Larsen FJ, Weitzberg E, Lundberg JO, Ekblom B. Effects of dietary nitrate on oxygen cost during exercise. *Acta Physiologica* 191: 59–66, 2007. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2007.01713.x.
- Coggan AR, Leibowitz JL, Kadkhodayan A, Thomas DT, Ramamurthy S, Spearie CA, Waller
   S, Farmer M, Peterson LR. Effect of acute dietary nitrate intake on maximal knee extensor

speed and power in healthy men and women. *Nitric Oxide* 48: 16–21, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2016.03.011.

- Coggan AR, Leibowitz JL, Spearie CA, Kadkhodayan A, Thomas DP, Ramamurthy S, Mahmood K, Park S, Waller S, Farmer M, Peterson LR. Acute Dietary Nitrate Intake Improves Muscle Contractile Function in Patients with Heart Failure: A Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Trial. *Circulation: Heart Failure* 8: 914–920, 2015. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.002141.
- Kumar RA, Kelley RC, Hahn D, Ferreira LF. Dietary nitrate supplementation increases diaphragm peak power in old mice. *Journal of Physiology* 0: 1–13, 2020. doi: 10.1113/JP280027.

17. Whitfield J, Gamu D, Heigenhauser GJF, Van Loon LJC, Spriet LL, Tupling AR, Holloway
 GP. Beetroot juice increases human muscle force without changing Ca2+-handling
 proteins. .

 Hernández A, Schiffer TA, Ivarsson N, Cheng AJ, Bruton JD, Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Westerblad H. Dietary nitrate increases tetanic [Ca 2+] i and contractile force in mouse fast-twitch muscle. *Journal of Physiology* 590: 3575–3583, 2012. doi:

10.1113/jphysiol.2012.232777.

 Alvares TS, Oliveira GV de, Volino-Souza M, Conte-Junior CA, Murias JM. Effect of dietary nitrate ingestion on muscular performance: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 62: 5284–5306, 2021. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2021.1884040.

- 20. Lago-Rodriguez Á, Domínguez R, Ramos-Alvarez JJ, Tobal FM, Jodra P, Tan R, Bailey SJ. The Effect of Dietary Nitrate Supplementation on Isokinetic Torque in Adults : A Systematic Review. *Nutrients* 12: 1–11, 2020.
- Coggan AR, Baranauskas MN, Hinrichs RJ, Liu Z, Carter SJ. Effect of dietary nitrate on human muscle power: a systematic review and individual participant data meta-analysis. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 18: 66, 2021. doi: 10.1186/s12970-021-00463-z.
- Coggan AR, Broadstreet SR, Mikhalkova D, Bole I, Leibowitz JL, Kadkhodayan A, Park S, Thomas DP, Thies D, Peterson LR. Dietary nitrate-induced increases in human muscle power: high versus low responders. *Physiological Reports* 6: 1–8, 2018. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13575.
- Janse De Jonge X, Thompson B, Han A. Methodological Recommendations for Menstrual Cycle Research in Sports and Exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 51: 2610– 2617, 2019. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000002073.
- 24. Hisamoto K, Ohmichi M, Kurachi H, Hayakawa J, Kanda Y, Nishio Y, Adachi K, Tasaka K, Miyoshi E, Fujiwara N, Taniguchi N, Murata Y. Estrogen Induces the Akt-dependent Activation of Endothelial Nitric-oxide Synthase in Vascular Endothelial Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276: 3459–3467, 2001. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M005036200.
- 25. **Majmudar NG, Robson SC, Ford GA**. Effects of the menopause, gender, and estrogen replacement therapy on vascular nitric oxide activity. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 85: 1577–1583, 2000. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.4.6530.

- 26. **Rahimian R, Laher I, Dube G, Van Breemen C**. Estrogen and selective estrogen receptor modulator LY117018 enhance release of nitric oxide in rat aorta. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 283: 116–122, 1997.
- 27. Sumi D, Ignarro LJ. Estrogen-related receptor alpha1 up-regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression. *PNAS* 100: 14451–14456, 2003.
- López-Jaramillo P, Díaz LA, Pardo A, Parra G, Jaimes H, Chaudhuri G. Estrogen therapy increases plasma concentrations of nitric oxide metabolites in postmenopausal women but increases flow-mediated vasodilation only in younger women. *Fertility and Sterility* 82: 1550–1555, 2004. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.05.083.
- Decker KP, Feliciano PG, Kimmel MT, Hogwood AC, Weggen JB, Darling AM, Richardson JW, Garten RS. Examining sex differences in sitting-induced microvascular dysfunction: Insight from acute vitamin C supplementation. *Microvascular research* 135: 104147, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2021.104147.
- Weggen JB, Hogwood AC, Decker KP, Darling AM, Chiu A, Richardson J, Garten RS.
   Vascular Responses to Passive and Active Movement in Premenopausal Females:
   Comparisons across Sex and Menstrual Cycle Phase. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* Publish Ahead of Print, 2022. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000003107.
- McNulty KL, Elliott-Sale KJ, Dolan E, Swinton PA, Ansdell P, Goodall S, Thomas K, Hicks KM. The Effects of Menstrual Cycle Phase on Exercise Performance in Eumenorrheic Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports Medicine*, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s40279-020-01319-3.

32. Giersch GEW, Charkoudian N, Pereira T, Edgell H, Freeberg KA, Craighead DH, Neill M, Allison EY, Zapcic AK, Smith KJ, Bock JM, Casey DP, Shenouda N, Ranadive SM, Tremblay JC, Williams AM, Simpson LL, Meah VL, Ruediger SL, Bailey TG, Pereira HM, Lei T-H, Perry B, Mündel T, Freemas JA, Worley ML, Baranauskas MN, Carter SJ, Johnson BD, Schlader ZJ, Bates LC, Stoner L, Zieff G, Poles J, Adams N, Meyer ML, Hanson ED, Greenlund IM, Bigalke JA, Carter JR, Kerr ZY, Stanford K, Pomeroy A, Boggess K, de Souza HLR, Meireles A, Arriel RA, Leite LHR, Marocolo M, Chapman CL, Atencio JK, Kaiser BW, Comrada LN, Halliwill JR, Minson CT, Williams JS, Dunford EC, MacDonald MJ, Santisteban KJ, Larson EA, Reed E, Needham KW, Gibson BM, Gillen J, Barbosa TC, Cardoso LLY, Gliemann L, Tamariz-Ellemann A, Hellsten Y, DuBos LE, Babcock MC, Moreau KL, Wickham KA, Vagula M, Moir ME, Klassen SA, Rodrigues A. Commentaries on Point:Counterpoint: Investigators should/should not control for menstrual cycle phase when performing studies of vascular control. *J Appl Physiol (1985)* 129: 1122–1135, 2020. doi:

10.1152/japplphysiol.00809.2020.

- James PE, Willis GR, Allen JD, Winyard PG, Jones AM. Nitrate pharmacokinetics: Taking note of the difference. *Nitric Oxide - Biology and Chemistry* 48: 44–50, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2015.04.006.
- Coggan AR, Racette SB, Thies D, Peterson LR, Stratford RE. Simultaneous Pharmacokinetic Analysis of Nitrate and its Reduced Metabolite, Nitrite, Following Ingestion of Inorganic Nitrate in a Mixed Patient Population. *Pharmaceutical Research* 37, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s11095-020-02959-w.

- 35. Jakubcik EM, Rutherfurd-markwick K, Chabert M, Wong M, Ali A. Pharmacokinetics of Nitrate and Nitrite Following Beetroot Juice Drink Consumption. *Nutrients* 13, 2021.
- Norte GE, Hertel J, Saliba SA, Diduch DR, Hart JM. Quadriceps Function and Patient-Reported Outcomes After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction in Patients With or Without Knee Osteoarthritis. J Athl Train 53: 965–975, 2018. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-170-17.
- Yamauchi J, Mishima C, Nakayama S, Ishii N. Force–velocity, force–power relationships of bilateral and unilateral leg multi-joint movements in young and elderly women. *Journal of Biomechanics* 42: 2151–2157, 2009. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2009.05.032.
- 38. Pinder AG, Rogers SC, Khalatbari A, Ingram TE, James PE. The Measurement of Nitric Oxide and Its Metabolites in Biological Samples by Ozone-Based Chemiluminescence. *Redox-Mediated Signal Transduction (Methods and Protocols)* 476: 10–27, 2008.
- Kenjale AA, Ham KL, Stabler T, Robbins JL, Johnson JL, VanBruggen M, Privette G, Yim E, Kraus WE, Allen JD. Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances exercise performance in peripheral arterial disease. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 110: 1582–1591, 2011. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00071.2011.
- Wickham KA, McCarthy DG, Pereira JM, Cervone DT, Verdijk LB, van Loon LJC, Power GA,
   Spriet LL. No effect of beetroot juice supplementation on exercise economy and
   performance in recreationally active females despite increased torque production.
   *Physiological Reports* 7: 1–14, 2019. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13982.
- 41. Coggan AR, Hoffman RL, Gray DA, Moorthi RN, Thomas DP, Leibowitz JL, Thies D, Peterson LR. A Single Dose of Dietary Nitrate Increases Maximal Knee Extensor Angular

Velocity and Power in Healthy Older Men and Women. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series* A 75: 1154–1160, 2020. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glz156.

- Papadopoulos S, Dipla K, Triantafyllou A, Nikolaidis MG, Kyparos A, Touplikioti P, Vrabas
   IS, Zafeiridis A. Beetroot Increases Muscle Performance and Oxygenation During Sustained Isometric Exercise, but Does Not Alter Muscle Oxidative Efficiency and Microvascular Reactivity at Rest. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 37: 361–372, 2018. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2017.1401497.
- 43. Porcelli S, Pugliese L, Rejc E, Pavei G, Bonato M, Montorsi M, La Torre A, Rasica L,
  Marzorati M. Effects of a Short-Term High-Nitrate Diet on Exercise Performance. *Nutrients*8: 534, 2016. doi: 10.3390/nu8090534.
- 44. **Crawford JH**. Hypoxia, red blood cells, and nitrite regulate NO-dependent hypoxic vasodilation. *Blood* 107: 566–574, 2006. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2668.
- 45. **Ansdell P, Thomas K, Hicks KM, Hunter SK, Howatson G, Goodall S**. Physiological sex differences affect the integrative response to exercise: acute and chronic implications. *Experimental Physiology* 105: 2007–2021, 2020. doi: 10.1113/EP088548.
- Fulford J, Winyard PG, Vanhatalo A, Bailey SJ, Blackwell JR, Jones AM. Influence of dietary nitrate supplementation on human skeletal muscle metabolism and force production during maximum voluntary contractions. *Pflugers Arch - Eur J Physiol* 465: 517– 528, 2013. doi: 10.1007/s00424-013-1220-5.
- 47. Vieira de Oliveira G, Diniz do Nascimento L, Volino-Souza M, do Couto Vellozo O, Silveira Alvares T. A single oral dose of beetroot-based gel does not improve muscle oxygenation

parameters, but speeds up handgrip isometric strength recovery in recreational combat sports athletes. *bs* 37: 93–99, 2020. doi: 10.5114/biolsport.2020.92518.

- 48. Kobzlk L, Reidt MB, Bredtt DS, Stamler JS. Nitric oxide in skeletal muscle. *Nature* 372: 3, 1994.
- 49. **Maréchal G, Gailly P**. Effects of nitric oxide on the contraction of skeletal muscle. *CMLS, Cell Mol Life Sci* 55: 1088, 1999. doi: 10.1007/s000180050359.
- 50. **Murrant CL, Frisbee JC, Barclay JK**. The effect of nitric oxide and endothelin on skeletal muscle contractility changes when stimulation is altered. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 75: 414–422, 1997.
- 51. **Hsueh AJW**, **Peck EJ**, **Clark JH**. Progesterone antagonism of the oestrogen receptor and oestrogen-induced uterine growth. *Nature* 254: 337–339, 1975. doi: 10.1038/254337a0.

Variable	Mean $\pm$ SD
Age	$24 \pm 4$
Height (cm)	$161 \pm 9$
Weight (kg)	$62 \pm 7$
Body Mass Index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$24 \pm 3$
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg/min)	$35\pm 6$
Peak-MVIC (Nm)	$159\pm40$
EF Estradiol (pmol/L)	$182\pm70$
LF Estradiol (pmol/L)	$242\pm105^{\ast}$

 Table 1: Participant Characteristics

N = 12; MVIC = Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction. EF = Early Follicular. LF = Late Follicular. \* - signifies p < 0.05 compared to EF Estradiol.
	Placebo		Beetro	oot Juice
	EF	LF	EF	LF
Nitrate (µM)	$37 \pm 12$	$36 \pm 19$	$749 \pm 192$	1,012 ± 216*
Nitrite (nM)	$122\pm45$	$108\pm39$	$366 \pm 129$	$407\pm77$

**Table 2**: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on N-Oxides

EF, Early follicular. LF, Late follicular. \*denotes significantly different from BRJ EF.

**Figure 1**: Experimental protocol schematic. The experimental visit was divided into two major testing blocks; (A) Maximal isokinetic knee extension and (B) pre- and post-MVIC with the fatigue protocol in between.



**Figure 2**: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on Isokinetic Peak Power

*Figure Legend*: \* denotes significant difference between EF+PL vs LF+BRJ.



**Figure 3**: The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on Vmax *Figure Legend*: \* denotes a significant treatment effect.







**Figure 5:** The Effects of Inorganic Nitrate and the Menstrual Cycle on Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction (MVIC) Force Before and After Intermittent Isometric Fatigue Protocol



# Manuscript 3:

# Inorganic Nitrate, Exercise Intensity, and Vascular Function in Post-Menopausal Females

Austin Hogwood, Joaquin Ortiz de Zevallos Muñoz, Nathan Weeldreyer, Vincent Mazzella, James R. Clark, Dylan Myaing, Lauren Cain, Kaitlin Love, Arthur Weltman, Jason D. Allen

#### Abstract:

Moderate intensity aerobic exercise improves vascular health in older males but not in postmenopausal (PM) females unless they either have severely impaired vascular health at baseline or unless estradiol treatment is co-administered. Estradiol may improve the vascular adaptations to exercise via improvements in nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability, however, estradiol treatment may convey separate health risks. Oral inorganic nitrate ( $NO_3^{-}$ ) supplementation provides an exogenous source of NO and may offer an alternative avenue to increase vascular responsiveness in PM females. Further, high intensity exercise (HIE) may provide a greater stimulus for vascular adaptation than moderate intensity exercise (MIE), especially when combined with NO3<sup>-</sup> supplementation. This study examined the effects of acute NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation and different exercise intensities on flow-mediated dilation (FMD), mean arterial pressure (MAP), and pulse wave velocity (PWV) in PM females. Twenty-two participants were tested in a double-blinded, block-randomized design. Participants consumed ~13mmol NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, in the form of 140ml beetroot juice (BRJ; n = 11) or an identical NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-depleted placebo (PL; n = 11) for ~3 days prior to lab visits and 2 hours prior to lab testing. Study visits consisted of vascular health measures before (Timepoint 0) and every 30 minutes after (Timepoints 60, 90, 120, 150, 180) high intensity exercise (HIE), moderate intensity exercise (MIE), and a non-exercise control (CON). Blood was taken at rest to determine plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> between treatment groups. As expected, plasma nitrite was elevated in the BRJ group (p < 0.05). BRJ+HIE improved Peak  $\Delta$  FMD compared to all CON conditions (p < 0.05), while BRJ+MIE improved Peak  $\Delta$  FMD compared only to BRJ+CON. Neither PL+HIE nor PL+MIE improved Peak  $\Delta$  FMD compared to PL+CON (p >0.05). Plasma NO<sub>2<sup>-</sup></sub> was positively correlated with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD, while body fat percentage with inversely correlated. Exercise prevented the increase in MAP and PWV over time independent of treatment. In conclusion, NO3<sup>-</sup> supplementation combined with high intensity exercise provided the greatest improvement in Peak  $\Delta$  FMD in post-menopausal females. NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation combined with moderate intensity exercise improved FMD and may offer a feasible alternative if participants are not willing to perform high intensity exercise. Future studies should test whether long term exercise training at high intensities with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation can enhance vascular health in PM females.

#### 1. Introduction

Approximately 1.2 billion females will be postmenopausal (PM) by 2030 (1). Menopause involves the loss of endogenous estradiol which greatly increases metabolic and cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk (2). Specifically, PM is associated with an increase in visceral fat (3, 4) and reduced bioavailable nitric oxide (NO) (5), both of which impact metabolic and vascular health.

NO bioavailability may play an important role in reducing CVD risk through its impact on lipid accumulation, glucose uptake, vasodilation, flow regulation, and platelet function (6, 7). Estrogen increases bioavailable NO by promoting NO synthesis, and may reduce NO consumption via increasing antioxidant status and reducing inflammation (7). Estradiol treatment has been shown to improve NO bioavailability and vascular health in PM females, however not to the levels observed in the premenopausal state (8–10). Importantly, following data from the Women's Health Initiative showing potentially increased risk of blood clots, stroke, and breast cancer without a reduction in the risk of CVD (11–13), many PM females are advised against estradiol treatment. Consequently, novel interventional approaches that increase NO bioavailability to promote vascular health in PM females are paramount.

Exercise is a low-cost approach to improving vascular health (14). Although moderate intensity exercise (MIE) training combined with estradiol treatment lowers CVD risk (8), the benefits of exercise training alone on vascular health in PM females are equivocal. This is partly due to confounding study differences such as length of PM status prior to training, levels of visceral fat, metabolic/vascular impairment at baseline, and training intensity/duration (9, 13, 15–26). A viable approach to exercise training in PM may be to utilize exercise intensities above the lactate threshold, as this high intensity exercise (HIE) is known to induce greater vascular adaptations (27–29).

Another innovative approach to increase bioavailable NO is through the conversion of inorganic nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) anions. This method is attractive as it is biologically distinct from endothelial-NO synthase, and can be achieved easily via oral beetroot juice (BRJ) administration (30). Briefly, inorganic nitrate is swallowed, absorbed into the circulation, concentrated in the salivary glands and then re-secreted into the oral cavity, where commensal bacteria reduce NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> (31). This NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> is then swallowed and absorbed into the circulation (34) in many clinical populations. Combining higher intensity exercise training with exogenous NO

supplementation may optimize the beneficial effects of each treatment individually but remains to be tested in PM females.

Thus, the purpose of the present study was to determine whether acute calorically-matched HIE improves vascular health more than acute MIE in PM females, and whether NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation impacts these responses. Further, factors such as plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, body fat, time since menopause (TSM), baseline vascular health, and visceral adipose tissue (VAT) were studied to determine whether they could affect these responses. The primary hypothesis was that that HIE would improve brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) more than MIE, and that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation will further enhance these improvements. The secondary hypothesis was that a greater amounts of plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, longer time since menopause (TSM), lower baseline FMD, lower fitness, and worse body composition will affect changes in FMD.

#### 2. Methods

#### Experimental Design and Protocol

This study was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (NCT05221905). Following a screening visit, participants were randomized to one of two treatment arms; i) ~13 mmol of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in the form of 140ml beetroot juice (BRJ); ii) or identical placebo (PL) with the nitrate extracted (<0.1 mmol nitrate), for 2 days prior to each testing visit, as well as 2-hours prior to each study visits (see *Supplementation Protocol* below). Each arm of the trial involved three randomized experimental visits that consisted of HIE, MIE, and a non-exercise control (CON) visit (see Figure 1). All study visits were performed by the same investigator, at the same time of day, and under the same sensory conditions. Participants were encouraged to maintain physical activity and diet habits throughout the study period. Participants were recruited from the University of Virginia and surrounding Charlottesville, Virginia area. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Virginia, and the study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants provided written informed consent.

#### **Participants**

A total of 22 (11 per group) estrogen-deficient PM females were included in this trial, defined as not having had a menstrual cycle for at least 1 year. Participants were nonsmokers,

sedentary or recreationally active (<3 days/week of exercise), with no use of hormone replacement therapy in the last year, and who had not had a hysterectomy or oophorectomy. Participants were normotensive (resting blood pressure <140/90 mmHg) and were not taking any medications that might interfere with  $NO_3^-$  supplementation (e.g., antihypertensives, nitrates, proton pump inhibitors, H<sub>2</sub> blockers).

#### Screening Procedures

Participants were phone screened for eligibility. Prior to all testing, participants abstained from all food or drinks other than water for at least 6 hours, caffeine for at least 12 hours, and exercise or alcohol for at least 24 hours. Participants met at the Clinical Research Unit (CRU) of the University of Virginia hospital and were consented, baseline measures taken (blood pressure, height, weight), and they were screened by a study physician. After enrollment, a venous catheter was placed in the antecubital fossa for serial blood lactate sampling during exercise. Participants performed an incremental symptom-limited cycle ergometer exercise test at the Exercise and Physiology Core Laboratory. Open-circuit spirometry was used to measure respiratory gases (Viasys Vmax Encore, Yorba Linda, CA). The exercise test consisted of 3-minute, 20-watt stages until participants reached volitional fatigue. The criteria for achieving VO<sub>2peak</sub> specific for older females included maximum HR within 10 bpm of age-predicted HR-max, respiratory exchange ratio (RER) > 1.10, and a rating of perceived exertion (RPE) > 17) (35). Blood lactate was sampled in the last 30 seconds of each stage, analyzed using a YSI 2300 STAT Plus (Yellow Springs, OH) and the resultant data plotted to determine that lactate threshold (LT) (36).

On a separate day (at least 48 hours later), participants completed a DEXA scan (Hologic Horizon) and baseline vascular testing visit which consisted of measures of blood pressure (BP), pulse wave velocity (PWV), and brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) prior to any beetroot juice supplementation. This visit started with participants resting in a supine position in a dark, quiet thermoneutral room for 10 minutes. BP and PWV testing was completed with a SphygmoCor Xcel model (AtCor Medical, Itaska, IL) following manufacturer instructions.

Subsequently, FMD was performed according to established guidelines (37, 38). Briefly, participants laid in a supine position with their arm extended and with their hand supinated, while an automatic inflation blood pressure cuff (AI6 Arterial Inflow System, Hokanson Inc., Bellevue, WA) was placed on the forearm directly below the elbow. Brachial artery diameter and

blood velocity were recorded at rest with a high-resolution 7.5MHz linear array transducer using doppler ultrasound (uSmart 3300 Ultrasound System, Terason, Burlington, MA). A probe holder was used to stabilize the transducer, and both anatomical notes as well as images of the artery were taken to ensure accurate repeat testing placement. An EKG trigger was used to capture images during end-diastole of the cardiac cycle. After resting measures, the cuff was inflated to 200 mmHg for 5-minutes while the participant was encouraged to remain as still and relaxed as possible. Occlusion measures were taken the final 10 seconds of the occlusion period, and measures continued for 2-minutes after cuff deflation. Automated edge detection software (Medical Imaging Applications, Coralville, IA) was used to evaluate diameter measurements. All images were coded to ensure blinding for analysis. Participants were then given either BRJ or PL by a blinded study investigator. Participants were given instructions about when to consume the supplement prior to the remaining experimental testing visits, and provided a form to log supplementation times.

Within each experimental condition (HIE, MIE or CON)  $\Delta$  FMD for each timepoint was calculated as the difference in FMD at each timepoint (i.e., 60, 90, 120, etc.) from the FMD at timepoint 0 for the same study visit. Peak  $\Delta$  FMD within each condition was determined as the largest  $\Delta$  FMD for each individual participant across timepoints.

#### Supplementation Protocol

Participants were block-randomized (matched for baseline characteristics of FMD, PWV,  $VO_{2peak}$ , age, BMI, abdominal visceral fat (VAT), and time-since-menopause) to one of two treatment arms. Participants were assigned to either consume ~13 mmol of  $NO_{3}^{-}$  daily via two 70 mL bottles (morning and night) of nitrate-rich beetroot juice (BRJ), or a nitrate-depleted beetroot juice (PL) (<0.1 mmol) with identical taste and appearance (Beet It, James White Drinks Ltd., Ipswich, United Kingdom). Participants consumed the beverages for two days prior to study visits and consumed two bottles two-hours prior to the beginning of each study visit to account for the time course of nitrate and nitrite bioavailability (39, 40). Participants were instructed to avoid high nitrate foods (i.e., spinach, arugula, celery, etc.) throughout the study period, as well as to avoid factors that could impact oral and microbial environment, such as mouthwash or antibiotics (41–43). A 24-hour dietary recall was employed during the study visits to ensure low-nitrate diets were adhered to (data not reported).

#### Experimental Visits

Each treatment arm of the study (BRJ or PL) consisted of three experimental visits; HIE, MIE, and a CON visit, assigned in a randomized order. Upon arrival to the laboratory, participants laid supine for 5-minutes before undergoing a blood draw. Participants then underwent a repeat of the vascular tests administered during the screening visit (Timepoint 0 min). Following vascular testing, participants were unblinded to the experimental visit allocated to that day (HIE, MIE, or CON).

Exercise sessions consisted of calorically-matched exercise at either HIE or MIE, with the goal of reaching 200 kcal of energy expenditure. Gas exchange and heart rate were recorded continuously during the exercise sessions (Cosmed Quark, Cosmed USA Inc., Concord, CA). Time to expend 200 kcal was estimated based on the VO<sub>2peak</sub> test, with real-time adjustments were made if energy during the exercise sessions was expended at a rate other than expected.

a) HIE occurred at a power output associated with the power output that was 75% of the difference between LT and VO<sub>2peak</sub> (75%  $\Delta$ ). If participants could not maintain this power output until 200 kcal were expended, power output was decreased to 50%  $\Delta$  and then to 25%  $\Delta$  if necessary.

b) MIE occurred at the power output associated with LT.

c) CON visits consisted of passive rest.

After each experimental condition and 5 minutes of supine rest, participants underwent a postcondition blood draw to determine changes in blood markers from pre- to condition-exercise. Vascular tests were repeated every 30-minutes for 2 hours (e.g., timepoints 60, 90, 120, 150, 180 min).

#### **Statistics**

Unpaired T-tests were used to determine differences between participant characteristics at baseline. The highest change in FMD from pre- to post-experimental condition (Peak  $\Delta$  FMD) was determined for each participant. Two-way ANOVA was used to determine any differences between treatments and time within experimental conditions (i.e., exercise intensity visits), as well as to compare exercise parameters between experiment conditions. Simple linear regression models were utilized to examine the relationship between supplemented plasma nitrite, body fat,

VO<sub>2peak</sub>, VAT, time-since-menopause, and baseline FMD with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD. All statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism Version 9.3 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). The study schematic was created using BioRender.com. Statistical significance was determined *a priori* when *p* < 0.05, and Cohen's *d* was interpreted as having trivial effects (0.0 – 0.19), small effects (0.20-0.49), medium effects (0.50 – 0.79) and large effects (>0.80) (44).

#### 3. Results

#### Participant Characteristics

A total of 22 post-menopausal females completed the study (11 per treatment arm). Groups were matched for age, time-since-menopause, body composition, fitness, and vascular health (Table 1).

#### **Blood Markers**

As expected, plasma nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) was significantly elevated in the BRJ treatment (Figure 2).

#### **Exercise** Parameters

There were no differences between treatment groups for exercise parameters during the screening VO<sub>2peak</sub> testing (i.e., peak power, heart rate, RER, RPE, blood lactate concentration, or % of VO<sub>2peak</sub> that lactate threshold occurred in; all p > 0.05; data not shown). Data from the experimental exercise bouts are displayed in Table 2 showing similar energy expenditure between groups, while higher exercise intensity resulted in higher heart rate, RPE, and a shorter duration (p < 0.05).

#### **Endothelial Function**

Peak  $\Delta$  FMD revealed a significant treatment (p = 0.03) and exercise intensity effect (p < 0.01), with a trending interaction effect (p = 0.09; Figure 3). Multiple comparison's revealed significant differences between BRJ+HIE and all other conditions, as well as BRJ+MIE vs CON+BRJ (all p < 0.05).

During the CON visit, two-way ANOVA for treatment x time revealed no significant effects of treatment (p = 0.62), time (p = 0.97), or an interaction (p = 0.57). Cohen's *d* effect size

calculations revealed trivial effects on  $\Delta$  FMD throughout the 180 mins of serial testing during the CON testing visit, regardless of treatment (d < 0.5 for PL vs BRJ; Figure 4A).

During moderate intensity exercise, a significant treatment effect (p = 0.03), but not effect of time (p = 0.61) or an interaction (p = 0.68) was revealed. Cohen's *d* effect size calculations revealed no effects for  $\Delta$  FMD in the PL group for the duration of the testing (180mins) but moderate to large effects for  $\Delta$  FMD between the BRJ treatment versus PL immediately after exercise (~60min timepoint) and throughout the remainder of the study visit (~1% improvement; Figure 4B).

During high intensity exercise, there was a significant time effect (p < 0.01), but not treatment effect (p = 0.48), or an interaction (p = 0.28). Multiple comparisons revealed a significant difference between 120min and both 60min (p = 0.02) and 90min (p = 0.01) timepoints. Cohen's *d* calculations appeared to display a biphasic response on  $\Delta$  FMD in the BRJ treatment group compared to the PL group with an initial decrease (d = -0.37), followed by a subsequent increase (~2% improvement; Figure 4C). Differences between PL vs BRJ peaked at the 180min timepoint in which BRJ had a medium effect on elevating FMD (d = 0.73).

#### *Predictors of Peak* $\Delta$ *FMD*

Post-supplemented plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> had a positive correlation with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.49; p = 0.001), while body fat (%) had a negative correlation with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD (R<sup>2</sup> = -0.29; p < 0.01). No other factors predicted Peak  $\Delta$  FMD (Table 3). Further exploration revealed a larger baseline brachial artery diameter in those with higher body fat (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.18; p = 0.05), and that those with a larger brachial artery diameter had a lower Peak  $\Delta$  FMD (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.22; p = 0.03).

#### Blood Pressure and Pulse Wave Velocity

MAP was significantly different across time (p < 0.01) for all three experimental conditions, with no treatment or interaction effects (p > 0.05). Multiple comparisons revealed significant differences between timepoint 0 and 180mins (p < 0.001) during CON, suggesting a slow increase in MAP over the course of testing (~2mmHg). During MIE, MAP at 90min was significantly reduced from timepoints 0 (p < 0.01), 60min (p < 0.01), and 180min (p < 0.01), while timepoint 120min was lower than 180min (p < 0.01). A similar pattern was seen during HIE, with MAP during timepoint 90min was significantly lower than from timepoints 0 (p < 0.01), 60min (p < 0.01), and 180min (p < 0.01), while MAP during timepoint 120min was different from timepoints 0 (p < 0.01), 60 (p < 0.01), and 180min (p < 0.01).

PWV significantly increased over time during the CON visit (p < 0.001), with no treatment (p = 0.27) or interaction effects (p = 0.48). Multiple comparisons showed that timepoints 150 (p < 0.01) and 180mins (p < 0.01) were significantly higher than timepoint 0. PWV was not significantly altered by time (p = 0.16), treatment (p = 0.58), and there was no interaction (p = 0.50) during MIE. Similarly, PWV was not significantly altered by time (p = 0.07), treatment (p = 0.50), and there was no interaction (p = 0.87) during HIE (Figure 5).

#### 4. Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the effects of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation and different intensities of exercise on vascular health in PM females. The primary findings of this study are that oral NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation augments acute post-exercise Peak  $\Delta$  FMD in estrogen-deficient PM females. This augmentation appeared to be greater after high intensity exercise (Figure 3). When taking into consideration the effects of time, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation improved FMD after MIE (Figure 4B), whereas FMD was improved after HIE regardless of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation (Figure 4C). In agreement with our hypothesis, plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> levels correlated positively with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD, while body fat percentage correlated negatively with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD (Table 3). However, we did not see relations with time-since-menopause, fitness, VAT, nor baseline FMD. Finally, both MAP and PWV increased over time during CON, which was ameliorated by exercise regardless of treatment (Figure 7).

The primary hypothesis of this study was that HIE would improve FMD compared to MOD and CON, and that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation would augment these responses. As changes in FMD post-acute exercise predict the exercise training-induced changes in FMD (45). the present findings suggest that long-term exercise training at high intensities may provide a greater stimulus for vascular adaptation than moderate intensity exercise in PM females, and that the combination of BRJ+HIE seems to offer the greatest improvements in FMD. This is notable as a 1% improvement in FMD is considered clinically meaningful, and is associated with a relative risk reduction of CVD events of ~10% (46). Consuming an exogenous source of NO may aid with the decrease of endogenous NO that occurs secondary to the loss of estrogen in menopause.

#### Effects of Exercise Intensity and Inorganic Nitrate on FMD

Studies examining acute changes to FMD after exercise in PM females are equivocal and results appear to be dependent on factors such as adiposity and time-course of FMD measurement post-exercise (47, 48). We hypothesized that HIE would produce greater changes to acute post-exercise FMD responses because of the greater elevation of shear-stress and overall larger stimulus that this exercise induces when compared to MIE. Supporting this, previous data from our laboratory in 2014 have shown that in younger lean adults, an improvement in FMD is observed 2-hours post-HIE ( $\Delta 3.2 \pm 0.5\%$ ) which is largely sustained 4-hours post-exercise (47). However, other studies have shown that in PM females, acute post-exercise FMD was improved only ~1% after high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and was unchanged with MIE, findings which were not statistically significant (48). Interestingly, the improvements in FMD after HIIT in that study were seen immediately after exercise, with FMD returning to baseline 1 hour later.

In the present study, FMD trended towards a decrease during the initial timepoints after HIE in the BRJ treatment group (i.e., 60-90 min) before rebounding and improving afterward in the later timepoints in both HIE conditions (120-180 min). These rebounding improvements in FMD resulted in an elevation in FMD in the BRJ+HIE condition that was greater than the PL+HIE group when evaluating the data as Peak  $\Delta$  FMD post-exercise (Figure 3). Interestingly, 2-way ANOVA for HIE showed a time but not a treatment or interaction effect. This was likely driven by the bi-phasic FMD response of both treatment groups over time. There was an effect size of 0.73 for FMD response between treatments at 180mins with BRJ increased ~2% and PL 1% from baseline (Figure 4C). The initial lack of response or worsening of FMD after HIE is commonly reported in the literature (45, 49) and has been attributed to the elevated exerciseinduced increased shear rate resulting in a larger baseline diameter of the artery (49). Indeed, the initial decrease in FMD after BRJ+HIE observed here was accompanied by the greatest improvement in BL diameter throughout the post-exercise period, although this was not significantly different (BRJ+HIE: +0.17mm; BRJ+MIE: +0.14mm; PL+HIE: +0.06mm; PL+MIE; +0.07mm; data not shown).

While studies have reported that FMD after acute MIE increased FMD as high as ~4.6% in PM females (which was not further enhanced by estradiol (50, 51)), long-term exercise training at moderate intensities have failed to improve FMD (13) unless baseline FMD is impaired (17, 19) or unless co-administration of estrogen is administered (9). The present study

showed no change over time from baseline in the PL+MIE condition on average compared to pre-exercise FMD, results which have been shown previously in PM females (52). In the BRJ+MIE condition however, sustained improvements in FMD were noted ( $\Delta$  0.5-1%) and were significantly different from PL+MIE (p = 0.03; Figure 4B). This may suggest that although chronic moderate intensity exercise training has failed to result in improvements in FMD in PM females in some studies, exogenous consumption of direct NO donors such as inorganic nitrate may aid in recovering the exercise-induced improvements in FMD to levels similar to what is seen with concomitant estradiol use. This provides a potential low-cost alternative for PM females who are reluctant to undertake HIE training as the addition of BRJ to MIE appears to provide an additive effect that results in higher FMD than HIE alone. In addition, the improvement in peak FMD observed in the HIE condition may be driven in part by the addition of BRJ, suggesting that PM females willing to undergo HIE training might benefit from BRJ supplementation (Figures 3 and 4).

#### Predictors of FMD Response

Predicting the acute improvements of FMD after exercise should allow for the pursuit of more precision approaches to exercise prescription in PM females. In the present study, the greatest predictor of Peak  $\Delta$  FMD was the supplemented plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> level, showing that those with greater plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> had greater changes in FMD (Table 3). This is not surprising as FMD is thought to be ~67% NO-mediated (56) and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> is reduced to NO in situations of lower partial oxygen pressure and lower pH (57). Interestingly, baseline supplemented FMD did not differ between treatments (Timepoints 0), suggesting that elevated plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> from BRJ alone does not improve resting FMD. As the BRJ+HIE resulted in the greatest Peak  $\Delta$  FMD, it appears plausible that NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> may convert to NO to a greater extent specifically after HIE. Indeed, HIE is well known to require the recruitment of a greater proportion of fast-twitch muscle fibers. This will result in decreased PO<sub>2</sub> and an increased acidic environment to the muscle, both of which are which are known to facilitate reduction of NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> to NO (58). Whether increasing plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> levels (potentially by a larger dose of inorganic nitrate) would further improve Peak  $\Delta$  FMD or whether there is a ceiling effect is unknown.

Contrary to our hypothesis, neither baseline FMD, fitness, time-since-menopause, nor VAT were predictive of Peak  $\Delta$  FMD (Table 3). Body fat percentage was negatively correlated

with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD (Table 3). Previous work from our lab has suggested that improvements in FMD after HIE were only seen in lean individuals, but not in obese individuals (47). Those findings were likely due to the larger baseline diameter in the obese group, findings which are similar to those seen in the current study (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.18, *p* = 0.05; data not shown). Thus, it appears that obesity blunts the exercise-mediated improvements in FMD and that this does not change after BRJ supplementation. Because the same absolute NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> dose was provided to each person (~13 mmol per day), it is unclear if participants who have a higher body fat percentage may experience greater improvements in FMD post-exercise if given a larger dose of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>.

#### Effects of Exercise and Inorganic Nitrate on Blood Pressure and Pulse Wave Velocity

Acute exercise often induces elevations in blood pressure during exercise activity, followed by mild rebound hypotension after exercise caused by peripheral vasodilation (59). Post-exercise hypotension has recently been shown not to be altered by NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation, findings that are similar to ours (Figure 5). Similarly, acute post-exercise PWV has shown to be either decreased or normalized compared to control conditions (60), results that are similar to our findings (Figure 5). While FMD responses to exercise training are blunted in PM females, exercise-mediated improvements in blood pressure and PWV are still possible in PM females (61). Thus, as NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> does not seem to enhance these effects acutely (Figure 5), it appears the beneficial impacts of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and exercise on FMD shown here occur via mechanisms not related to changes in blood pressure and arterial stiffness.

#### Limitations

There are several limitations in this study. First, due to the preliminary nature of this study, there is a small sample of participants (n = 11 per treatment arm) which did not provide adequate power to perform a three-way ANOVA for treatment x intensity x time. Because of this, two-way ANOVAs within each exercise intensity as well as effect sizes were utilized to examine differences between treatments within each condition. There were, however, adequate statistical power to examine the primary outcome of Peak  $\Delta$  FMD.

Another limitation of this study is that the sample of PM females were in relatively good vascular health. Only 7 of the 22 participants had a baseline FMD that is considered "impaired" for PM females (< 4.5% FMD). This may have caused an under report of the potential FMD

improvements when extended to a less healthy population as previous data suggest that individuals with impaired compared to normal baseline FMD improve to a greater extent (62). Similarly, the participants in the present study were not on any anti-hypertensive medications, and thus it is unknown if these benefits may be blunted in those individuals. The majority of the participants in this study were Caucasian (n=21) with only one participant from a Hispanic background. While resting and postprandial FMD has previously been shown by our group to be unaffected by race in PM females (18), we can't address whether post-exercise FMD may be impacted differently across races with and without BRJ. Finally, the follow-up period for this study was ~2 hours post-exercise, and thus it is unknown for how long these effects on FMD may persist post-exercise.

#### 5. Conclusion

These preliminary data suggest HIE combined with BRJ improves Peak  $\Delta$  FMD responses to exercise in PM females and supports our hypothesis that higher intensities of exercise and/or exogenous sources of NO3<sup>-</sup> may be necessary to increase NO bioavailability and endothelial function in post-menopausal females. When taking into account time course of FMD changes post-exercise, high-intensity exercise improves FMD independent of treatment. Additionally, BRJ+MIE may improve Peak  $\Delta$  FMD more than MIE alone, and observing the time course of FMD changes post-exercise reveals that BRJ+MIE may offer an option for individuals who are not willing to participate in HIE. The time course of improvements in FMD post-exercise appear to differ with different exercise intensities, and this is not impacted by  $NO_3^{-1}$ supplementation. Plasma NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> levels were significantly correlated with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD, while body fat was negatively correlated with Peak  $\Delta$  FMD. Finally, blood pressure and pulse wave velocity rises were mitigated by exercise, independent of exercise intensity or supplement treatment. These findings reveal a potential precision approach to improve vascular health in PM females, a population that is growing and is experiencing unmitigated insult to their endothelial function. Further research should examine whether chronic exercise training interventions performed at high vs moderate intensities and paired with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supplementation may rescue the impairments in endothelial function that are seen in post-menopausal females.

#### 6. References

- Sussman M, Trocio J, Best C, Mirkin S, Bushmakin AG, Yood R, Friedman M, Menzin J, Louie M. Prevalence of menopausal symptoms among mid-life women: Findings from electronic medical records. *BMC Women's Health* 15: 1–5, 2015. doi: 10.1186/s12905-015-0217-y.
- El Khoudary SR, Aggarwal B, Beckie TM, Hodis HN, Johnson AE, Langer RD, Limacher MC, Manson JE, Stefanick ML, Allison MA, null null. Menopause Transition and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: Implications for Timing of Early Prevention: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 142: e506–e532, 2020. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000912.
- Samargandy S, Matthews KA, Brooks MM, Barinas-Mitchell E, Magnani JW, Janssen I, Kazlauskaite R, Khoudary SRE. Abdominal visceral adipose tissue over the menopause transition and carotid atherosclerosis: the SWAN heart study.
- Abildgaard J, Danielsen ER, Dorph E, Thomsen C, Juul A, Ewertsen C, Pedersen BK, Pedersen AT, Ploug T, Lindegaard B. Ectopic Lipid Deposition Is Associated With Insulin Resistance in Postmenopausal Women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 103: 3394–3404, 2018. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-00554.
- Majmudar NG, Robson SC, Ford GA. Effects of the menopause, gender, and estrogen replacement therapy on vascular nitric oxide activity. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 85: 1577–1583, 2000. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.4.6530.
- 6. Lundberg JO, Carlström M, Weitzberg E. Metabolic Effects of Dietary Nitrate in Health and Disease.
- Somani YB, Pawelczyk JA, De Souza MJ, Kris-Etherton PM, Proctor DN. Aging women and their endothelium: Probing the relative role of estrogen on vasodilator function. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 317: H395–H404, 2019. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00430.2018.
- Moreau KL, Meditz A, Deane KD, Kohrt WM. Tetrahydrobiopterin improves endothelial function and decreases arterial stiffness in estrogen-deficient postmenopausal women. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 302: H1211– H1218, 2012. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01065.2011.

- Moreau KL, Stauffer BL, Kohrt WM, Seals DR. Essential role of estrogen for improvements in vascular endothelial function with endurance exercise in postmenopausal women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 98: 4507–4515, 2013. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2183.
- Vitale C, Mercuro G, Cerquetani E, Marazzi G, Patrizi R, Pelliccia F, Volterrani M, Fini M, Collins P, Rosano GMC. Time since menopause influences the acute and chronic effect of estrogens on endothelial function. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 28: 348–352, 2008. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.158634.
- Iorga A, Cunningham CM, Moazeni S, Ruffenach G, Umar S, Eghbali M. The protective role of estrogen and estrogen receptors in cardiovascular disease and the controversial use of estrogen therapy. *Biology of sex differences* 8: 33, 2017. doi: 10.1186/s13293-017-0152-8.
- Rossouw JE, Manson JE, Kaunitz AM, Anderson GL. Lessons Learned From the Women's Health Initiative Trials of Menopausal Hormone Therapy. *Obstet Gynecol* 121: 172–176, 2013.
- Pierce GL, Eskurza I, Walker AE, Fay TN, Seals DR. Sex Specific Effects of Habitual Aerobic Exercise on Brachial Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation in Middle-Aged and Older Adults. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 120, 2011. doi: 10.1042/CS20100174.
- 14. Valero-Elizondo J, Salami JA, Osondu CU, Ogunmoroti O, Arrieta A, Spatz ES, Younus A, Rana JS, Virani SS, Blankstein R, Blaha MJ, Veledar E, Nasir K. Economic impact of moderate-vigorous physical activity among those with and without established cardiovascular disease: 2012 medical expenditure panel survey. *Journal of the American Heart Association* 5: 1–11, 2016. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.003614.
- Santos-Parker JR, Strahler TR, Vorwald VM, Pierce GL, Seals DR. Habitual aerobic exercise does not protect against micro-or macrovascular endothelial dysfunction in healthy estrogen-deficient postmenopausal women. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 122: 11–19, 2017. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00732.2016.
- Casey DP, Pierce GL, Howe KS, Mering MC, Braith RW. Effect of resistance training on arterial wave reflection and brachial artery reactivity in normotensive postmenopausal women. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 100: 403–408, 2007. doi: 10.1007/s00421-007-0447-2.

- Swift DL, Earnest CP, Blair SN, Church TS. The effect of different doses of aerobic exercise training on endothelial function in postmenopausal women with elevated blood pressure: Results from the DREW study. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 46: 753–758, 2012. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090025.
- Swift DL, Weltman JY, Patrie JT, Barrett EJ, Gaesser GA, Weltman A. Evaluation of racial differences in resting and postprandial endothelial function in postmenopausal women matched for age, fitness and body composition. *Ethnicity and Disease* 23: 43–48, 2013.
- Swift DL, Weltman JY, Patrie JT, Saliba SA, Gaesser GA, Barrett EJ, Weltman A. Predictors of improvement in endothelial function after exercise training in a diverse sample of postmenopausal women. *Journal of Women's Health* 23: 260–266, 2014. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2013.4420.
- Black MA, Cable NT, Thijssen DHJ, Green DJ. Impact of age, sex, and exercise on brachial artery flow-mediated dilatation. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 297: 1109–1116, 2009. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00226.2009.
- Nyberg M, Egelund J, Mandrup CM, Nielsen MB, Mogensen AS, Stallknecht B, Bangsbo J, Hellsten Y. Early Postmenopausal Phase is Associated with Reduced Prostacyclin-Induced Vasodilation That is Reversed by Exercise Training: The Copenhagen Women Study. *Hypertension* 68: 1011–1020, 2016. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.07866.
- 22. Akazawa N, Choi Y, Miyaki A, Tanabe Y, Sugawara J, Ajisaka R, Maeda S. Curcumin ingestion and exercise training improve vascular endothelial function in postmenopausal women. *Nutrition Research* 32: 795–799, 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2012.09.002.
- Irving BA, Davis CK, Brock DW, Weltman Y, Swift D, Barrett EJ, Gaesser GA, Weltman A. Effect of exercise training intensity on abdominal visceral fat and body composition. *Med Sci Sports Exerc2* 40: 1863–1872, 2008.
- Dupuit M, Rance M, Morel C, Bouillon P, Pereira B, Bonnet A, Maillard F, Duclos M, Boisseau N. Moderate-Intensity Continuous Training or High-Intensity Interval Training with or without Resistance Training for Altering Body Composition in Postmenopausal Women. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 52: 736–745, 2020. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002162.

- Maillard F, Rousset S, Pereira B, Traore A, de Pradel Del Amaze P, Boirie Y, Duclos M, Boisseau N. High-intensity interval training reduces abdominal fat mass in postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes & Metabolism* 42: 433–441, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2016.07.031.
- 26. **Dupuit M**, **Maillard F**, **Pereira B**, **Marquezi ML**, **Lancha AH**, **Boisseau N**. Effect of high intensity interval training on body composition in women before and after menopause: a meta-analysis. *Experimental Physiology* 105: 1470–1490, 2020. doi: 10.1113/EP088654.
- 27. Ramos J, Dalleck L, Tjonna A, Beetham K, Coombes J. The Impact of High-Intensity Interval Training Versus Moderate-Intensity Continuous Training on Vascular Function : a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. .
- 28. **Iwamoto E, Bock JM, Casey DP**. High-Intensity Exercise Enhances Conduit Artery Vascular Function in Older Adults.
- Garten RS, Scott MC, Zúñiga TM, Hogwood AC, Fralin RC, Weggen J. A Prior High-Intensity Exercise Bout Attenuates the Vascular Dysfunction Resulting From a Prolonged Sedentary Bout. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health* 16: 916–924, 2019. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2018-0568.
- Lidder S, Webb AJ. Vascular effects of dietary nitrate (as found in green leafy vegetables and beetroot) via the nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 75: 677–696, 2013. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04420.x.
- Woessner M, Smoliga JM, Tarzia B, Stabler T, Van Bruggen M, Allen JD. A stepwise reduction in plasma and salivary nitrite with increasing strengths of mouthwash following a dietary nitrate load. *Nitric Oxide - Biology and Chemistry* 54: 1–7, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2016.01.002.
- 32. Blekkenhorst LC, Bondonno NP, Liu AH, Ward NC, Prince RL, Lewis JR, Devine A, Croft KD, Hodgson JM, Bondonno CP. Nitrate, the oral microbiome, and cardiovascular health: A systematic literature review of human and animal studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 107: 504–522, 2018. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqx046.
- 33. Walker MA, Bailey TG, McIlvenna L, Allen JD, Green DJ, Askew CD. Acute dietary nitrate supplementation improves flow mediated dilatation of the superficial femoral artery in healthy older males. *Nutrients* 11: 1–23, 2019. doi: 10.3390/nu11050954.

- 34. Woessner MN, Neil C, Saner NJ, Goodman CA, McIlvenna LC, De Zevallos JO, Garnham A, Levinger I, Allen JD. Effect of inorganic nitrate on exercise capacity, mitochondria respiration, and vascular function in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 128: 1355–1364, 2020. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00850.2019.
- Edvardsen E, Hem E, Anderssen SA. End Criteria for Reaching Maximal Oxygen Uptake Must Be Strict and Adjusted to Sex and Age: A Cross-Sectional Study. *PLoS ONE* 9: e85276, 2014. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085276.
- Green HJ, Hughson RL, Orr GW, Ranney DA. Anaerobic threshold, blood lactate, and muscle metabolites in progressive exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 54: 1032–1038, 1983. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1983.54.4.1032.
- 37. Corretti MC, Anderson TJ, Benjamin EJ, Celermajer D, Charbonneau F, Creager MA, Deanfield J, Drexler H, Gerhard-Herman M, Herrington D, Vallance P, Vita J, Vogel R. Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: A report of the international brachial artery reactivity task force. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 39: 257–265, 2002. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(01)01746-6.
- 38. Limberg JK, Casey DP, Trinity JD, Nicholson WT, Wray DW, Tschakovsky ME, Green DJ, Hellsten Y, Fadel PJ, Joyner MJ, Padilla J. Assessment of resistance vessel function in human skeletal muscle: guidelines for experimental design, Doppler ultrasound, and pharmacology. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 318: H301–H325, 2020. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00649.2019.
- James PE, Willis GR, Allen JD, Winyard PG, Jones AM. Nitrate pharmacokinetics: Taking note of the difference. *Nitric Oxide - Biology and Chemistry* 48: 44–50, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2015.04.006.
- Wylie LJ, Kelly J, Bailey SJ, Blackwell JR, Skiba PF, Winyard PG, Jeukendrup AE, Vanhatalo A, Jones AM. Beetroot juice and exercise: Pharmacodynamic and doseresponse relationships. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 115: 325–336, 2013. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00372.2013.
- Bondonno CP, Liu AH, Croft KD, Considine MJ, Puddey IB, Woodman RJ, Hodgson JM. Antibacterial Mouthwash Blunts Oral Nitrate Reduction and Increases Blood Pressure

in Treated Hypertensive Men and Women. *American Journal of Hypertension* 28: 572–575, 2015. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpu192.

- 42. Kapil V, Haydar SMA, Pearl V, Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Ahluwalia A.
  Physiological role for nitrate-reducing oral bacteria in blood pressure control. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 55: 93–100, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.11.013.
- Sundqvist ML, Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E. Effects of antiseptic mouthwash on resting metabolic rate: A randomized, double-blind, crossover study. *Nitric Oxide - Biology and Chemistry* 61: 38–44, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2016.10.003.
- 44. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioural Sciences. 2nd ed. Routledge, 1988.
- 45. Dawson EA, Cable NT, Green DJ, Thijssen DHJ. Do acute effects of exercise on vascular function predict adaptation to training? *Eur J Appl Physiol* 118: 523–530, 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3724-8.
- Green DJ, Jones H, Thijssen D, Cable NT, Atkinson G. Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular event prediction: Does nitric oxide matter? *Hypertension* 57: 363–369, 2011. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.167015.
- Hallmark R, Patrie JT, Liu Z, Gaesser GA, Barrett EJ, Weltman A. The effect of exercise intensity on endothelial function in physically inactive lean and obese adults. *PLoS ONE* 9, 2014. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085450.
- Yoo JK, Pinto MM, Kim HK, Hwang CL, Lim J, Handberg EM, Christou DD. Sex impacts the flow-mediated dilation response to acute aerobic exercise in older adults. *Experimental Gerontology* 91: 57–63, 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.02.069.
- Birk G, Dawson E, Batterham A, Atkinson G, Cable T, Thijssen DH, Green D. Effects of Exercise Intensity on Flow Mediated Dilation in Healthy Humans. *Int J Sports Med* 34: 409–414, 2012. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1323829.
- 50. Harvey PJ, Morris BL, Kubo T, Picton PE, Su WS, Notarius CF, Floras JS. Hemodynamic after-effects of acute dynamic exercise in sedentary normotensive postmenopausal women: *Journal of Hypertension* 23: 285–292, 2005. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200502000-00010.
- Harvey PJ, Picton PE, Su WS, Morris BL, Notarius CF, Floras JS. Exercise as an alternative to oral estrogen for amelioration of endothelial dysfunction in postmenopausal women. *American Heart Journal* 149: 291–297, 2005. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2004.08.036.

- Ozemek C, Hildreth KL, Blatchford PJ, Joseph Hurt K, Bok R, Seals DR, Kohrt WM, Moreau KL. Effects of resveratrol or estradiol on postexercise endothelial function in estrogen-deficient postmenopausal women. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 128: 739–747, 2020. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00488.2019.
- 53. Moreau KL, Hildreth KL, Klawitter J, Blatchford P, Kohrt WM. Decline in endothelial function across the menopause transition in healthy women is related to decreased estradiol and increased oxidative stress. *GeroScience* 42: 1699–1714, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s11357-020-00236-7.
- Moreau KL, Gavin KM, Plum AE, Seals DR. Oxidative stress explains differences in large elastic artery compliance between sedentary and habitually exercising postmenopausal women. *Menopause* 13: 951–958, 2006. doi: 10.1097/01.gme.0000243575.09065.48.
- 55. Carlstrom M, Montenegro MF. Therapeutic value of stimulating the nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway to attenuate oxidative stress and restore nitric oxide bioavailability in cardiorenal disease. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 285: 2–18, 2019. doi: 10.1111/joim.12818.
- 56. Green DJ, Dawson EA, Groenewoud HMM, Jones H, Thijssen DHJ. Is flow-mediated dilation nitric oxide mediated?: A meta-analysis. *Hypertension* 63: 376–382, 2014. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02044.
- 57. **Crawford JH**. Hypoxia, red blood cells, and nitrite regulate NO-dependent hypoxic vasodilation. *Blood* 107: 566–574, 2006. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2668.
- Jones AM, Ferguson SK, Bailey SJ, Vanhatalo A, Poole DC. Fiber Type-Specific Effects of Dietary Nitrate. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews* 44: 53–60, 2016. doi: 10.1249/JES.000000000000074.
- 59. **Hellsten Y**, **Nyberg M**. Cardiovascular adaptations to exercise training. *Comprehensive Physiology* 6: 1–32, 2016. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140080.
- 60. Mutter AF, Cooke AB, Saleh O, Gomez Y-H, Daskalopoulou SS. A systematic review on the effect of acute aerobic exercise on arterial stiffness reveals a differential response in the upper and lower arterial segments. *Hypertens Res* 40: 146–172, 2017. doi: 10.1038/hr.2016.111.

- Zhou W-S, Zheng T-T, Mao S-J, Xu H, Wang X-F, Zhang S-K. Comparing the effects of different exercises on blood pressure and arterial stiffness in postmenopausal women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Experimental Gerontology* 171: 111990, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2022.111990.
- Rossi R, Chiurlia E, Nuzzo A, Cioni E, Origliani G, Modena MG. Flow-mediated vasodilation and the risk of developing hypertension in healthy postmenopausal women. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 44: 1636–1640, 2004. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.07.027.

## Figure 1: Study Schematic.



Vascular Testing

Blood draw

1

Variable	PL	BRJ	<i>p</i> -value			
Age (yr)	$61 \pm 2$	$60 \pm 2$	0.36			
Time Since Menopause (yr)	$10\pm 6$	$9\pm5$	0.20			
Body Mass Index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$28\pm5$	$28\pm7$	0.41			
Body Fat (%)	$37\pm 6$	$38 \pm 6$	0.38			
Visceral Adipose Tissue (g)	$380 \pm 180$	$447\pm205$	0.21			
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg/min)	$24 \pm 4$	$24\pm 5$	0.41			
Flow-Mediated Dilation (%)	$6.3\pm2.2$	$6.0\pm2.2$	0.72			
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	$92\pm7$	$91\pm7$	0.65			
Pulse Wave Velocity (m/s)	$7.4 \pm 1$	$7.3 \pm 1$	0.81			

### **Table 1: Participant Characteristics**

Mean + SD. N = 11 per treatment.

	Moderate-Intensity		High-In	tensity
Variable	PL	BRJ	PL	BRJ
Power, W (% Power <sub>peak</sub> )*	56 ± 15 (42%)	69 ± 22 (48%)	 114 ± 18 (85%)	124 ± 31 (87%)
VO <sub>2</sub> , ml/kg/min (% VO <sub>2peak</sub> )*	15.8 ± 3.8 (65%)	$15.7\pm 2.6~(67\%)$	$19.7 \pm 4.1 \ (82\%)$	19.7 ± 4.7 (83%)
HR, bpm (% HR <sub>peak</sub> )*	112 ± 25 (69%)	115 ± 15 (72%)	143 ± 7 (87%)	138 ± 9 (86%)
Borg-RPE*	$12.0\pm1$	$12.2 \pm 1$	$17.2 \pm 1$	$17.3 \pm 1$
Duration, min*	$36 \pm 4$	$33 \pm 8$	$29 \pm 2$	$25\pm4$
Energy Expenditure (kcal)	$198\pm20$	$200\pm15$	$200 \pm 22$	$199 \pm 17$

## Table 2: Experimental Exercise Parameters

Mean + SD. N = 11. \*denotes significant difference between exercise intensities.



Figure 2: The effects of inorganic nitrate (BRJ) or placebo (PL) on plasma nitrite.

**Figure 3:** The effects of inorganic nitrate (BRJ) or placebo (PL) and exercise intensity on Peak  $\Delta$  FMD.

Figure Legend: \* denotes significantly different from PL+CON, PL+MIE, PL+HIE, and

BRJ+CON. † denotes significantly different from BRJ+CON. CON: control; MIE: moderate

intensity exercise; HIE: high intensity exercise.



**Figure 4:** The effects of inorganic nitrate (BRJ) or placebo (PL) on change in flowmediated dilation ( $\Delta$  FMD) from timepoint 0 during A. Control, B. Moderate Intensity Exercise, C: High Intensity Exercise.

Figure Legend: \* denotes significantly different from PL within exercise intensity. † denotes

significantly different from timepoint 120 within exercise intensity.



Variable	$\mathbb{R}^2$	<i>p</i> -value
Supplemented Plasma NO2 <sup>-</sup> (nM)	0.49	< 0.01
Body Fat (%)	0.29	< 0.01
Peak $\Delta$ MAP (mmHg)	0.11	0.14
VO <sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg/min)	0.12	0.12
Baseline FMD (%)	0.04	0.40
Visceral Adipose Tissue (g)	0.01	0.64
Time Since Menopause (yr)	0.01	0.63

**Table 3: Predictors for Peak**  $\triangle$  **FMD** 

**Figure 5:** The effects of inorganic nitrate (BRJ) or placebo (PL) on mean arterial pressure (MAP; left) and pulse wave velocity (PWV; right) during A. Control, B. Moderate Intensity Exercise, C: High Intensity Exercise.

*Figure Legend:* Only a significant main effect of time was observed for MAP in each condition, and for PWV during CON. a denotes significantly different within measure from timepoint 0. b denotes significantly different within measure from timepoint 60. c denotes significantly different within measure from timepoint 90. d denotes significantly different within measure from timepoint 120. e denotes significantly different within measure from timepoint 150. f denotes significantly different within measure from timepoint 180.



108